| FA | O | Fish | eries | Report | No. | 387 |
|----|---|------|-------|--------|-----|-----|
|----|---|------|-------|--------|-----|-----|

FIPL/R387

Report of the seventeenth session of the

COMMITTEE ON FISHERIES

Rome, 18-22 Way 1987



| | | • |
|--|--|---|
| | | |

REPORT

of the

SEVENTEENTH SESSION OF THE

COMMITTEE ON FISHERIES

Rome, 18-22 May 1987

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture. Organization of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

M-40 ISBN 92-5-102624**-**6

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying or otherwise, without the prior permission of the copyright owner. Applications for such permission, with a statement of the purpose and extent of the reproduction, should be addressed to the Director. Publications Division, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Via delie Terme di Caracaila, 00100 Rome, Italy.

This is the final report approved by the Seventeenth Session of the Committee on Fisheries.

Distribution:

All FAO Member Nations and
Associate Members
Participants in the session
Other interested Nations and
International Organizations
FAO Fisheries Department
Fishery Officers in FAO Regional
Offices

For bibliographic purposes this document should be cited as follows:

FAO, Report of the seventeenth
1987 session of the Committee
on Fisheries. Rome,
18-22 May 1987. FAO Fish.
Rep., (387):48 p.

ABSTRACT

The Committee on Fisheries at its Seventeenth Session reviewed the world fisheries situation, the progress in the implementation of the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development and the five Programmes of Action approved by the Conference on Fisheries Management FAO World Development. It also reviewed actions taken by FAO in the implementation of the World Fisheries Conference's Resolutions concerning specific aspects of fisheries management It agreed on the formats and periodicity of the development. progress reports on the implementation of the Strategy and the Programmes of Action to be submitted for consideration at its future sessions. It welcomed the information on trends and future prospects in world fisheries and requested that this information be submitted periodically for its review.

The Committee considered the Report of the First Session of the COFI Sub-Committee on Fish Trade held in October 1986 and endorsed the Sub-Committee's recommendations.

The Committee discussed the activities and functions of FAO regional fishery bodies and agreed that the item should again be placed on the agenda for its Eighteenth Session.

The Committee considered the recommendations of an Expert Consultation on the Technical Specifications for the Marking of Fishing Vessels held in June 1986, and reviewed information received from member countries, regional and international organizations regarding the protection of living resources from entanglement in fishing nets and debris.

The Committee endorsed the strategies and priorities selected by the Director-General in the preparation of his Summary Programme of Work and Budget for 1988-89 and supported the Conclusions of the Programme Committee at its Fifty-second Session that the proposals for Major Programme 2.2: Fisheries, responded to the needs of member countries. It unanimously agreed that the Summary Frogramme of Work and Budget provided a satisfactory basis for the formulation of the full Programme of Work and Budget in fisheries for 1988-89.



联合国 粮食及 农业组 FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS ORGANISATION
DES NATIONS
UNIES POUR
L'ALIMENTATION
ET L'AGRICULTURE

ORGANIZACION
DE LAS NACIONES
UNIDAS PARA
LA AGRICULTURA
Y LA ALIMENTACION

منظمة الأغذية والزراعة للأمسم المتحدة

Via delle Terme di Caracalla, 00100 Rome, Italy

Cables: FOODAGRI ROME

Telex: 610181 FAO I

Telephone: 57971

Ref.: FI 5/4.17

22 May 1987

Excellency,

I have the honour to transmit to you herewith the report of the Seventeenth Session of the Committee on Fisheries, which was held in Rome from 18 to 22 May 1987.

Accept, Excellency, the assurance of my highest consideration.

Hassen Akrout Chairman Committee on Fisheries v

His Excellency Lassaad Ben Osman Independent Chairman Council of FAO

CONTENTS

| | Pages | Paragraphs |
|--|----------|------------|
| MATTERS REQUIRING ATTENTION BY THE COUNCIL | ix-xi | |
| OPENING OF THE SESSION | | 1 - 9 |
| ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE SESSION | | 10 |
| ELECTION OF OFFICERS | | 11 - 12 |
| WORLD FISHERIES SITUATION | | 13 - 26 |
| FOLLOW-UP TO THE 1984 FAO WORLD CONFERENCE ON FISHERIES MANAGEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT | | 27 - 65 |
| (a) Progress in the implementation of the Strategy for F Management and Development | isheries | 27 - 34 |
| (b) Progress in the implementation of the Programmes of | Action | 35 - 52 |
| (c) Progress in the implementation of the Resolutions co specific aspects of fisheries management and develop | | 53 - 65 |
| REPORT ON THE FIRST SESSION OF THE COFI SUB-COMMITTEE ON TRADE, ROME, 7-10 OCTOBER 1986 | FISH | 66 - 76 |
| MARKING AND IDENTIFICATION OF FISHING VESSELS | | 77 - 83 |
| PROTECTION OF LIVING RESOURCES FROM ENTANGLEMENT IN FISHINETS AND DEBRIS | NG | 84 - 89 |
| REVIEW OF THE ACTIVITIES OF FAO REGIONAL FISHERY BODIES | | 90 - 97 |
| THE WORK OF FAO IN FISHERIES DURING 1988-89 | | 98 - 109 |
| ANY OTHER MATTERS | | 110 |
| DATE AND PLACE OF THE EIGHTEENTH SESSION OF THE COMMITTEE | | 111 |
| ADOPTION OF THE REPORT | | 112 |
| | | Pages |
| APPENDIX A Agenda | | 19 |
| B List of Delegates and Observers | | 20 |
| C List of documents | | 43 |
| D Opening Statement by the Director-General | • | 45 |

.

MATTERS REQUIRING ATTENTION BY THE COUNCIL

A. MATTERS FOR DECISION

None

B. MATTERS FOR INFORMATION

World fisheries situation

The Committee welcomed the opportunity to review the present world fisheries situation and outlook for the future and suggested that such a review should be placed regularly on the agenda of the Committee, preferably at four-yearly intervals. It agreed that the likely gap between demand and supply by the year 2000 dictated the need for major efforts by FAO as well as by Member Governments, particularly in: (1) the improvement of fisheries management; (2) the effective development of aquaculture; and (3) the improved utilization of fish, including the reduction of post-harvest losses.

(paras. 14-16)

Progress in the implementation of the Strategy for fisheries management and development

The Committee considered the preliminary progress report prepared in response to the request of the World Fisheries Conference as instructive, with valuable information, reflecting many of the trends in fisheries. It noted steps taken by several countries in improving the legal, administrative and institutional frameworks for fisheries management and development and actions taken to review or revise their policies and programmes for the fisheries sector in the light of the recommendations of the Strategy. It agreed that the World Fisheries Conference's Strategy provided a useful tool to both governments and international organizations in their endeavours to improve the contributions of fisheries to national, economic, social and nutritional goals. It recommended that further progress reports be prepared, using the same format, for submission to the Committee on Fisheries at four-yearly intervals. FAO was requested to assist developing countries which might request the Organization's help and advice in preparing their national reports. (paras. 29, 30 and 34)

Progress in the implementation of the Programmes of Action

The Committee expressed its general satisfaction with the progress made in implementing the Programmes of Action and recorded its appreciation for the financial support provided by the donors which reached the minimum annual indicative target of US \$ 15 million. It noted, however, the imbalances in the support received for the various Programmes, both at the level of financing and between geographical regions, in particular, the little extrabudgetary support given to Programme of Action V on the promotion of the role of fisheries in alleviating undernutrition. The Committee agreed on the suitability of the format currently used in this reporting. The progress report to be submitted to the Eighteenth Session of the Committee should include more detailed information on the implementation of the Programmes of Action outside the framework of FAO. (paras. 37, 38 and 52)

Progress in the implementation of the Resolutions concerning specific aspects of fisheries management and development

The Committee noted with appreciation that FAO had continued its effort jointly with the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Unesco/Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC), the World Health Organization (WHO), the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and other organizations, in promoting action aimed at preventing and fighting pollution affecting fishery resources. It reiterated its request that action also be taken in the protection of inland water fishery resources from pollution.

The Committee commended FAO on the successful implementation of World Food Day 1986 which had as its theme "Fishermen and Fishing Communities". It stressed the importance of implementing integrated development programmes at national level so as to improve the quality of life of rural small-scale fishermen. (paras. 60 and 61)

Report on the First Session of the COFI Sub-Committee on Fish Trade, Rome, 7-10 October 1987

The Committee highlighted the usefulness of its Sub-Committee on Fish Trade in the light of the fruitful work the Sub-Committee had been able to accomplish at its First Session. It endorsed the report of the First Session of this Sub-Committee and the recommendations contained therein, as well as the proposal for a Technical Assistance Programme for Fishery Commodities and Marketing Development. It decided that the next meeting of the Sub-Committee would depend on the progress of its work, taking into account the meeting of the Codex Committee on Fish and Fishery Products and the Eighteenth Session of the Committee on Fisheries. (paras. 68-71, 73 and 76)

Marking and identification of fishing vessels

The Committee supported the concept of a uniform system for the marking of fishing vessels and considered the draft specifications, prepared at an Expert Consultation convened by the Director-General in June 1986, a good basis for implementing such a system. Whilst noting that several delegations stated that their governments would require time to review the proposed marking system, the Committee suggested that the matter be further considered by both the Committee on Fisheries and the FAO Council. (paras. 78 and 82)

Protection of living resources from entanglement in fishing nets and debris

Several delegations felt that, in the light of other pressing needs for develoment in fisheries, the above issue should presently have a lower priority in the work of FAO and of the Committee on Fisheries. Other delegations pointed to the need for immediate action in some areas. The Committee felt that the International Maritime Organization (IMO) could monitor entanglement in marine debris. It was noted that future work by FAO in this field would be carried out in cooperation with other bodies such as UNEP and the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), subject to the availability of extra-budgetary funds. (paras. 88 and 89)

Review of the activities of FAO regional fishery bodies

The Committee welcomed the opportunity to discuss the above issue and requested that the item be again placed on the agenda of its Eighteenth Session. To facilitate the preparation of this item, the Committee suggested that different FAO regional fishery bodies undertake, during the intersessional period, an in-depth evaluation of their work. (para. 90)

The work of FAO in fisheries during 1988-89

The Committee endorsed the strategies and priorities selected by the Director-General in the preparation of his Summary Programme of Work and Budget for 1988-89. It approved the content and framework, as well as the areas of special emphasis of the fisheries proposals. It supported the conclusion made by the Programme Committee, at its Fifty-second Session in May 1987, that the proposals for Major Programme 2.2: Fisheries responded to the needs of member countries and agreed that the Summary Programme of Work and Budget provided a satisfactory basis for the formulation of the full Programme of Work and Budget in fisheries for 1988-89. It was felt that even more attention should be given to aquaculture, the reduction of post-harvest losses and the socio-economic aspects of development and management of small-scale fisheries. (paras. 105-107 and 109)

OPENING OF THE SESSION

- 1. The Committee on Fisheries held its Seventeenth Session in Rome from 18 to 22 May 1987. The session was attended by 85 members of the Committee, by observers from four other FAO Member Nations, one non-Member Nation of FAO, and the Holy See, by representatives of the United Nations Development Programme, the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, the International Fund for Agricultural Development, the World Bank, the World Food Programme and the European Economic Community and by observers from 15 other intergovernmental and international organizations. The list of delegates and observers is given in Appendix B to this report.
- 2. As the Chairman of the Committee, Mr. William G. Gordon (USA), who had retired from Federal Service, was unable to participate in the session, Mr. Salem Hadj Ali (Tunisia), who had been elected First Vice-Chairman of the Committee at its Sixteenth Session, was in the Chair. After his welcoming remarks, Mr. Hadj Ali invited the session to observe one minute's silence in memory of the late Mr. J.E. Carroz, Assistant Director-General of the FAO Fisheries Department and previously Secretary of the Committee on Fisheries.
- 3. The session was inaugurated with the address of the Director-General, read by Mr. D. Walton, Deputy Director-General. The text of his statement is reproduced in Appendix D to this report.
- 4. The Committee heard statements made by Ministers and Vice-Ministers responsible for fisheries from member countries.
- 5. H.E. Captain Ryszard Pospieszynski, First Deputy Minister of the Ministry of Maritime Economy, Poland, expressed full support for increased international collaboration in fisheries research and in the control and prevention of aquatic pollution. He mentioned that future expansion of the utilization of non-conventional species would depend on collaborative research in the development of suitable ways and means of using these resources. Poland reiterated its offer to collaborate with other countries and FAO in the development of the capacity of developing countries for the management and development of their fisheries.
- 6. H.E. Sirajul Hossain Khan, Minister for Fisheries and Livestock, Bangladesh, highlighted the conclusions of the 1984 FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development and stressed the need to integrate small-scale fisheries development in the overall rural development. He emphasized the growing importance of inland fisheries to many developing countries, in particular Bangladesh, and outlined his country's policy for fisheries development. He supported FAO's conclusion that fish production could be increased in response to the demand by the year 2000.
- 7. H.E. Angel Alogo Nchama, Minister of Fisheries and Forestry of Equatorial Guinea, stressed the importance of international cooperation in rural development and drew attention to the need to maximize benefits for coastal States from the fisheries in their exclusive economic zones. He expressed full support for FAO's activities in assisting its member countries in the field of fisheries management and development.
- 8. H.E. Pedro Ojeda Paullada, Secretary of State for Fisheries of Mexico, emphasized that the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development was a faithful reflection of the political will of the world community represented at the World Fisheries Conference, recalling the commitment of the FAO member

countries to its implementation and stressing the importance of not reopening questions which had already been thoroughly discussed and resolved by the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea and endorsed by the Strategy itself. He supported the need to eliminate tariff and other trade barriers which hampered the fish trade while concealing interests of access to resources of the exclusive economic zones, as well as the basic principle that each country should directly exploit its resources for its own benefit and that of mankind, thereby generating an increased trade flow.

9. H.E. Javier Labarthe Correa, Minister of Fisheries of Peru, emphasized the importance of fish as food and the need for conservation and rational utilization of fishery resources. He drew attention to the key role played by the private sector in the expansion of fisheries in his country. He urged that the potential use of shoaling pelagic fish for direct human consumption should be explored. In the development of fisheries, developing countries still needed assistance with respect to capital, equipment and technology; however, the negative impact of debt repayment requirements had hampered the economies as well as fisheries development in many developing countries. Finally, he stressed the need for Third World countries to safeguard national economic interests in the exploitation of fishery resources in their respective exclusive economic zones.

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE SESSION

10. The Committee adopted the agenda as shown in Appendix A to this report. The documents which were before the Committee are listed in Appendix C.

ELECTION OF OFFICERS

- 11. As this was the first and only session being held in the 1986-87 biennium, the Committee was required to elect a Chairman, a First Vice-Chairman and four other Vice-Chairmen. Mr. Hassen Akrout (Tunisia) was unanimously elected Chairman of the Committee; Captain Ryszard Pospieszynski (Poland) was elected First Vice-Chairman, and Belgium, Canada, Malaysia and Senegal as other Vice-Chairmen.
- 12. A Drafting Committee was appointed consisting of representatives of Chile, Equatorial Guinea, India, Indonesia, Japan, Kenya, Norway, Spain, the United States of America, and the People's Democratic Republic of Yemen. It elected India as its Chairman and the United States of America as Vice-Chairman.

WORLD FISHERIES SITUATION

- 13. At previous sessions of the Committee, the opportunity was provided, from time to time, to review the trends and outlook for world fisheries. The last discussion of this item took place at the Eleventh Session of the Committee in 1977. With increased attention being paid to global fisheries and future developments, as a result of the World Fisheries Conference, it was considered timely for the Committee to devote a special agenda item to this subject.
- 14. The Committee welcomed document COFI/87/2 prepared by the Secretariat and expressed appreciation for the opportunity to review the present fisheries situation and the outlook for the future. It was noted that the document, which might be completed and updated, would be helpful to governments in the preparation and revision of their national plans for fisheries management and development. It was suggested that the review of the world fisheries

situation should be placed regularly on the agenda of the Committee, preferably at four-yearly intervals.

- 15. The Committee noted the continued growth in the world catch of fish but expressed concern that much of the recent growth had been in the catches of small pelagic species which were generally of lower value and subject to wide natural fluctuations and utilized generally for fish meal. The Committee thought that the future outlook presented in the paper was realistic and that the likely gap between demand and supply dictated the need for major efforts by FAO as well as Member Governments.
- 16. The Committee agreed that three basic possibilities existed to increase fish supply: (1) the improvement of fisheries management; (2) the effective development of aquaculture; and (3) improved utilization of fish, including the reduction of post-harvest losses.
- 17. In achieving the task of improved management, one of the most critical needs was improved information. FAO's role in providing such information was recognized as being of crucial importance. The role of FAO's regional and sub-regional fishery bodies was particularly valued in helping governments to improve their information base. Concern was expressed that some governments were not providing statistical data of an acceptable quality with regard to some of their fisheries and it was hoped that this could be overcome.
- 18. The Committee noted that a study of the Patagonian fishery resources and the off-shore fisheries in the South-West Atlantic, an important part of the FAO statistical Area 41, had recently been published by FAO. Recognizing the importance of the fisheries in statistical Area 41 and that under the present circumstances FAO is uniquely capable of collating and analyzing fisheries data, the Committee requested the Secretariat to continue to monitor the area, within its mandate as a specialized technical agency, and in particular to update the study as appropriate. To this end, the countries fishing in the area were invited to cooperate with the Secretariat, particularly through the provision of all catch and effort data and biological information on the fishery resources.
- 19. It was generally agreed that there was a strong need for training in the acquisition of information and in the development of management expertise. Some delegations noted that there was considerable disparity among countries in their approaches to fisheries management and FAO was encouraged to examine the conditions that would be conducive to the adoption of better management practices.
- 20. The Committee noted the rise in the real prices of fish and the pressures that this was likely to place on the fishery resources as fishermen increased their fishing effort. It was suggested that FAO should undertake increased effort to develop price information.
- 21. Many delegations stressed the importance of ensuring rational exploitation of the resources in their exclusive economic zones for the benefit of their countries. A number of countries expressed concern about the difficulties of monitoring fishing operations and of ensuring that foreign fishing vessels were not violating their zones. Several delegations noted that the costs of controlling fishing in their exclusive economic zones were high and requested assistance in the development of appropriate cost-effective monitoring, control and surveillance systems.

- 22. Although many delegations agreed with the projected increase in production of aquaculture by the year 2000, a number of delegations believed that the projections were under-estimated. It was agreed, however, that more attention should be given to aquaculture in recognition of its potential to increase fish supplies. The Secretariat was requested to prepare a review on aquaculture development for each session of the Committee.
- 23. The Committee expressed concern regarding the costs of inputs required for aquaculture and it was noted that technical constraints remain, particularly in genetics and feed. Several delegations referred to the important contribution to production from enhancing natural stocks as well as cage culture. Several countries suggested that FAO organize an international conference on aquaculture, possibly in the next biennium. One member suggested that further actions should be considered in the light of the forthcoming thematic evaluation report on aquaculture.
- 24. It was agreed that significant improvements in the supply of food fish could be achieved from better utilization of existing catches. Shortages in infrastructure required for the preservation and distribution of fish were identified as well as the need for reducing by-catches in shrimp trawls.
- 25. Special attention was given to the importance of small shoaling pelagic species as a potential source of fish for direct human consumption to meet demand projections to the year 2000. In this connection, the need for more applied technology to improve traditional products from these species and to determine alternative product approaches, including analogous products with wide usage potential, was underlined. The Committee also noted that acceptance of these species often required changes in eating habits and improvements in physical facilities for distribution, storage and transportation. The Committee therefore urged that more attention be given to investment in this area. It pointed that that the uncertainty associated with the variability in pelagic species could be reduced by directing more research on these species.
- 26. While supporting the recommendations on the strengthening of their fisheries sector several developing countries pointed out that severe economic difficulties prevented major investments in their national development plans. It was mentioned that depressing international prices for commodities, losses of markets to subsidized products and the heavy burden of their external debt were the main obstacles to their development.

FOLLOW-UP TO THE 1984 FAO WORLD CONFERENCE ON FISHERIES MANAGEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

(a) Progress in the implementation of the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development

27. The World Fisheries Conference endorsed a Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development and invited States and international organizations to take into account the principles and guidelines contained in the Strategy when planning the management and development of fisheries. In Resolution No. 3 adopted by the Conference, the Director-General was requested to provide the Committee on Fisheries and the Organization's governing bodies with periodic reports on the progress achieved in implementing the Strategy; States, international and regional organizations were encouraged to collaborate with FAO in preparing such reports.

- 28. The Committee reviewed a preliminary progress report prepared by the Director-General in response to this request. The report (document COFI/87/3) was based on national reports provided by governments, contributions from international and other organizations, special studies undertaken by FAO and relevant statements made at regional and international meetings held since the World Fisheries Conference.
- 29. The Committee welcomed the report which it regarded as most instructive and valuable information prepared in a frank and analytical manner, reflecting and complementing many of the trends in fisheries described in document COFI/87/2. It noted the encouraging progress made by many countries in undertaking steps to promote effectively the management and development of their fisheries, although it was observed that because of varying conditions and capacities some countries had found it more difficult than others to implement relevant guidelines and principles of the Strategy especially those with regard to management and surveillance systems.
- 30. Delegations referred to the steps taken by their governments to improve the legal, administrative and institutional frameworks for fisheries management and development after the World Fisheries Conference and described the actions taken to review or revise their policies and programmes for the fisheries sector in the light of the recommendations of the Strategy. Reference was particularly made to the increased awareness created among decision-makers of the importance and potentials of the fisheries sector as a result of the World Fisheries Conference.
- 31. The Committee noted that the review by FAO re-affirmed the critical importance of training, transfer of technology and financial resources so as to improve the self-reliance of developing countries in planning and executing fisheries development and management programmes. It also welcomed the emphasis placed in the report upon the vital need for better and more comprehensive data, both biological and socio-economic. In this regard, it underlined the key role of FAO in providing training and advice and in the gathering, analysis and dissemination of statistics and other types of information.
- 32. The Committee expressed its satisfaction with the great importance which continues to be attached by both developed and developing countries to technical and economic collaboration between all countries and organizations concerned with fisheries and to the value in this respect of the network of FAO regional fishery bodies and other mechanisms established to promote and facilitate cooperation in research, development and management. The need for further efforts to increase the flow of financial support to the fishery sectors of developing countries was also underlined.
- 33. On the evidence of the national reports and other materials provided for the preparation of this first progress report, the Committee agreed that the Strategy endorsed by the World Fisheries Conference was clearly providing a useful tool to both governments and international organizations as they sought individually and jointly to improve the contribution from fisheries to national social, economic and nutritional goals. It recommended that further assessments of progress being achieved with implementing the Strategy should be regularly prepared by the Organization. The timing of such future reports would necessarily have to reflect a compromise between a desire for frequent and current information and the relatively slow rate at which important changes in fisheries emerge, and also avoid placing unreasonable burdens on the governments and organizations which would be requested to provide the materials upon which the reports would be based.

The Committee recommended that further progress reports should be prepared at four-yearly intervals, i.e. for presentation to every alternate session of the Committee. It was considered that such future evaluations of the usefulness and relevance of the Strategy might be made jointly with overviews of the overall state and prospects of the world's fisheries, similar to that presented in document COFI/87/2. This would permit the Committee to deal regularly with two important issues in a logical and effective manner. The Committee further agreed that countries should again be encouraged to provide national reports, based on simple but flexible standard formats and supplemented by other information they considered to be valuable and relevant for use in the preparation of future evaluations. It counselled that care should be taken, when seeking the collaboration of States and organizations, to avoid duplication of requests for fisheries data made by the Organization. FAO was also urged to make every effort to assist developing countries which might request the Organization's help and advice in preparing their national reports.

(b) Progress in the implementation of the Programmes of Action

- 35. The Committee considered this item on the basis of document COFI/87/4. The Secretariat reported on progress achieved since the adoption of the Programmes of Action at the World Fisheries Conference. The sub-regional, regional and inter-regional activities implemented under the five Programmes of Action were categorized into two main groups, namely: projects executed directly by FAO and projects undertaken in support of the Programmes of Action outside the framework of FAO.
- 36. It was noted that although the FAO-executed projects were mostly financed by cash contributions from donors, some activities received significant in-kind support from donors and also increasing cash contributions from the participating countries themselves which were not included in the statistical summaries of document COFI/87/4.
- 37. The Committee expressed its general satisfaction with the progress made in implementing the Programmes of Action and recorded its appreciation for the financial support provided by the donors which reached the minimum annual indicative target of US\$ 15 million. Many delegations noted that there were imbalances in the support received for the various Programmes of Action. These imbalances were both at the level for financing the Programme of Action and between geographical regions. In particular, it was noted that Programme Action V "The Promotion of the Role of Fisheries in Alleviating Under-nutrition" had, surprisingly, received little support, and several delegations stressed the necessity of additional donor support. To assist with mobilizing support for this Programme, the delegation of the Netherlands announced its intention of holding a working group in collaboration with FAO on the role of fish in nutrition. Also the Norwegian delegation stressed the importance of this Programme and advised that nutritional aspects were included in the projects conducted under its bilateral fisheries programmes. The completion of the draft manual on nutritional elements to be included in project design after suitable field testing would help to promote the inclusion of nutritional considerations in fishery development projects.
- 38. Geographical imbalances in support of the Programmes of Action mainly affected Latin America and the Caribbean (except for some activities under Programme of Action III). Delegations appealed to donors to fill those gaps. In addition, lack of support for Programme of Action I in the Mediterranean and inland waters of Asia, Africa and Latin America was noted.

- 39. The Committee welcomed the strong support received for Programme of Action III on Aquaculture Development and emphasized the considerable growth potential of this sector. However, several delegations stressed the need to review the approach used for the development of this sector on the basis of the forthcoming report of the FAO/Norway/UNDP Thematic Evaluation on Aquaculture. It was further pointed out that many of the problems related to aquaculture differed between regions and that a regional approach should be considered.
- 40. The Committee was satisfied with the accomplishments of the Regional Project for the Development of Aquaculture in the Mediterranean (MEDRAP). It also expressed the hope that the problems of financing would not hinder the continuity of this project.
- 41. Several delegations noted with satisfaction the important role being played in the promotion of fish trade by the FAO Regional Fish Marketing Information Networks as part of Programme of Action IV and were pleased to be informed that the Regional Asian Fish Marketing Project INFOFISH had now become an autonomous inter-governmental body.
- 42. Many delegations stressed the importance of the training elements in the Programmes of Action as a means of technology transfer and of achieving self-reliance of developing countries in the management and development of their own fisheries sectors. In this respect Portugal offered collaboration in the training of Portuguese-speaking trainees from Africa.
- 43. The Committee emphasized that, although the initial period of five years for the implementation of the Programmes of Action would terminate in 1989, there was a need to continue the Programmes beyond that date. It suggested that the FAO regional fishery bodies should be able to make useful proposals as to future priorities and adjustments of the Programmes for their respective regions.
- 44. Several delegations mentioned the importance of Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries (TCDC) and Economic Cooperation among Developing Countries (ECDC) in the implementation of the Programmes of Action as a cornerstone for the regional transfer of technology and attainment of self-reliance.
- 45. Many delegations emphasized the need for coordination and exchange of information on donor inputs to avoid duplication and make the most cost-effective use of the available resources. In this connection, the Committee was informed by the representative from the World Bank that a donors' consultation had been held in Paris in October 1986, attended by 29 donor agencies, under the auspices of the World Bank, EEC, UNDP and the African Development Bank, with FAO participation. As a result of this consultation, an information exchange system had been initiated by FAO. Regional fisheries development donors' consultations were also being prepared. Furthermore, the Committee was informed that a programme for international cooperative research was under formulation.
- 46. The representative of the European Economic Community (EEC) described the fishery programme being carried out within the framework of the Lome III Convention and other agreements. She also informed the Committee that a regional project for Africa and the Sahel was being reviewed for approval, in support of Programme of Action V.

- 47. The representative of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) advised that his organization would continue its close cooperation with FAO in the fisheries sector. It was noted that approximately 40 percent of the funding on an annual basis for the Programmes of Action was provided by UNDP. The increasing support given by the participating countries themselves to such projects as the Network for Aquaculture Centres in Asia and the Indo-Pacific Tuna Project was commended. The interest of UNDP in co-funding projects with other donors was emphasized.
- 48. The representative of the Commonwealth Secretariat mentioned her Organization's special interest in the Programmes of Action and elaborated upon the implementation of various activities which were in line with these Programmes.
- 49. The representative of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC) referred to their cooperation with FAO in the implementation of Programmes of Action I, II and III, and stressed the importance of oceanographic research in relation to fluctuations in the abundance of pelagic fish stocks. Mention was also made of IOC collaboration with FAO in the preparation of a manual on the use of research vessels and in the Aquatic Sciences and Fisheries Information System (ASFIS).
- 50. The representative of the Latin American Organization for the Development of Fisheries (OLDEPESCA) provided information on the policies, programmes and projects of his Organization. Mention was made of the close collaboration between OLDEPESCA and FAO on such projects as INFOPESCA, the Working Group on Resources Evaluation in Central America and the survey programme off Central America of the research vessel Dr. Fridtjof Nansen.
- 51. The delegate of Peru, on behalf of the members of the South Pacific Permanent Commission (CPPS), advised that the Commission wished to improve working relations with FAO, and, in particular, referred to a Technical Cooperation Programme (TCP) project for reformulating a pilot project for non-traditional food products from fish for institutional consumption, a proposal for a regional CPPS/FAO project to assist in the management and development of fisheries in the South East Pacific, a working group for the research on artisanal fisheries and fish resources in the South East Pacific and the organization of other international technical meetings on various fisheries subjects.
- 52. The Committee agreed on the general suitability of the format of the report presented by the Secretariat as document COFI/87/4. However, some delegates expressed the wish for more detailed information on implementation of the Programmes of Action outside the FAO framework and requested that such information be provided as an appendix to the next COFI document on this subject, or as an information paper. One delegate suggested that information on donors' development assistance at the country level should also be appended.

(c) Progress in the implementation of the Resolutions concerning specific aspects of fisheries management and development

53. This item was discussed on the basis of document COFI/87/5. The Committee noted that, in addition to the three recommendations concerning the implementation of the Strategy and Programmes of Action, the World Fisheries Conference had adopted six additional Resolutions on the following topics: (i) the Promotion of Fish in the Campaign against Malnutrition (Resolution No. 4); (ii) the Financing of Investment Projects in the Field of Fisheries (Resolution No. 5); (iii) Protection of Fishery Resources of Developing

Countries from Pollution (Resolution No. 6); (iv) the Role of the Fisherman (Resolution No. 7); (v) Development of Special Fisheries Programmes for Land-locked Countries (Resolution No. 8); and (vi) the Promotion of Economic Cooperation among Developing Countries (ECDC) and Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries (TCDC) (Resolution No. 9).

- 54. The Committee also noted that, after its Sixteenth Session, follow-up activities to the World Fisheries Conference had been reviewed on two major occasions. The first one, the Ministerial Conference on Fisheries convened by the Government of Spain from 15 to 18 September 1985, had supported strongly the need to develop further bilateral, regional and multilateral cooperation in the fisheries sector, particularly ECDC and TCDC, the provision of profitable outlets for the fishery products of developing countries and the role of fish in alleviating world hunger.
- 55. The second occasion had been the review of the follow-up activities of the World Fisheries Conference by the Twenty-third Session of the FAO Conference held in Rome from 9 to 28 November 1985. The FAO Conference had welcomed, in particular, the Director-General's decision to select "Fishermen and Fishing Communities" as a theme for World Food Day 1986 and the opportunity thus offered to emphasize the role of women in the fisheries sector.
- 56. Concerning Resolution No. 4, the Promotion of Fish in the Campaign against Malnutrition, the Committee welcomed the measures being taken by the World Food Programme (WFP) and member countries to increase the quantities of fisheries products in their emergency and food work programmes and by FAO to reduce post-harvest losses.
- 57. The Committee expressed concern over the fact that Programme of Action V, the Promotion of the Role of Fisheries in Alleviating Under-nutrition, had not received the level of financing it deserved, thus delaying very much the full implementation of this resolution. The Committee called the attention of donor countries and non-governmental organizations to this fact and urged them to give higher priority to financing fishery projects aimed at alleviating hunger and malnutrition in the world.
- 58. There was general appreciation by the Committee of the efforts made by the Director-General to bring Resolution No. 5 on investment in fisheries to the attention of the major financing institutions immediately after the World Fisheries Conference and the steps he had taken to strengthen Regular Programme activities in this field. The Committee agreed with the emphasis put on training in project identification, preparation and evaluation, as recommended at its Sixteenth Session in 1985.
- 59. The Committee reiterated the views it had expressed at its Sixteenth Session concerning the promotion of consultations on aid coordination between the financing institutions and between these and developing countries. In this connection it commended the organization of a donors' consultation on fisheries development assistance in Paris, France, in 1986, on the initiative of the World Bank and the European Economic Community (EEC). The representative of the World Bank explained the results of the consultation and follow-up actions being undertaken in close collaboration with FAO, EEC, UNDP and the African Development Bank (ADB).
- 60. The Committee noted that FAO had continued its efforts, jointly with the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Unesco/Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC), World Health Organization (WHO),

Organization (OMI) and other International Maritime international organizations, to promote actions aimed at preventing and fighting pollution affecting fishery resources. The Committee commended FAO on the successful establishment of networks of laboratories in the Mediterranean and the West and Central African Region for monitoring contamination of fish and for research on pollution affecting marine organisms and ecosystems. stressed that FAO/UNEP cooperation in such programmes should be intensified and that the time had now come to develop strategies to limit coastal pollution and control its sources. In view of the growing problems of pollution in inland waters and the great importance of inland fisheries to many countries, especially in Africa, the Committee reiterated its request that action be taken to protect inland water fishery resources from pollution. Specific reference was made to the vulnerable environments of some African lakes, e.g., Lake Tanganyika. The Committee noted with satisfaction the work carried out by the Group of Experts on Scientific Aspects of Marine Pollution (GESAMP).

- 61. The role of the fisherman was underlined by the World Food Day celebration in 1986 which had as its theme "Fishermen and Fishing Communities". The Committee commended the Secretariat on the successful implementation of that event and noted that many countries had arranged special activities on that occasion resulting in increasing community awareness of fisheries issues. Attention was focused on the contribution of small-scale fishermen to food production, nutrition, and social and economic development, and, in particular, on the role of women in aquaculture, fish processing and marketing. The Committee stressed the importance of implementing integrated development programmes at national level, so as to improve the quality of life of rural small-scale fishermen.
- 62. The Committee noted with satisfaction the follow-up action undertaken by FAO in response to Resolution No. 8, Development of Special Fisheries Programmes for Land-locked Countries. It recognized that this support was both direct through increased emphasis in the Organization's Regular Programme and indirect through the mobilization of financial assistance to help countries to plan, develop and manage their inland fisheries and aquaculture.
- 63. The Committee appreciated that the land-locked countries of the Sahel and East-Central Africa had benefited from increased Regular Programme assistance through the activities of the Committee for Inland Fisheries of Africa (CIFA) and the Fishery Development Officer outposted to the Eastern Central African region. The countries of Lake Victoria and Lake Tanganyika, in particular, emphasized the usefulness of regional contacts in promoting technical assistance and investment projects.
- 64. The Committee recognized that the FAO Regular Programme and the five Programmes of Action adopted by the World Fisheries Conference contained strong elements of support for ECDC and TCDC (Resolution No. 9) as these Programmes related to activities at the regional, sub-regional and inter-regional levels.
- 65. The role of FAO regional fishery bodies in promoting ECDC and TCDC was considered crucial to increase regional understanding and the need to support their activities was strongly supported. It was noted, however, that shortage of funds did in some cases limit their activities by reducing the number of training courses, workshops, seminars, cooperative networks and technical meetings.

REPORT ON THE FIRST SESSION OF THE COFI SUB-COMMITTEE ON FISH TRADE, ROME, 7-10 OCTOBER 1986

- 66. In introducing the relevant document, COFI/87/6, Mr Fernando Castro y Castro (Mexico), Chairman of the Sub-Committee on Fish Trade, presented the results of the Sub-Committee's First Session held in Rome from 7 to 10 October 1986 and pointed out that the documentation provided evidence that the Sub-Committee indeed constituted an appropriate framework for consultations on fish trade matters as envisaged by the World Fisheries Conference. The First Session had shown that there was no duplication with the work of other organizations and that controversial issues of international trade in fish and fishery products could be discussed with active and constructive participation leading to useful results for all countries.
- 67. At the time of the First Session of the Sub-Committee the available information had suggested that there was a long-term trend of developing countries achieving increased participation in international fish trade, albeit at a relatively slow pace. According to current information it appeared that this trend had been interrupted in 1986 and the share of developing countries in international fish trade was lower than in 1985. Further, the net foreign exchange gains of developing countries from international fish trade and the difficult economic situation, taking into account the potential benefits which such trade held for the developing countries, meant that the existence of the Sub-Committee, was now even more important than before. With regard to future work of the Sub-Committee the Chairman mentioned the following activities:
 - promotion of new value-added products;
 - cooperation in the areas of quality control, standards and training;
 - study of the effects of tariff and non-tariff barriers, and
 - studies on counter and barter trade arrangements.
- 68. The comments of the Committee highlighted the usefulness of the Sub-Committee in the light of the fruitful work it had been able to accomplish at its First Session. It was indicated that the relevance of the background documents had made an important contribution. The Committee commended the Chairman, Members and Secretariat of the Sub-Committee on the results of their efforts and endorsed the Report of the First Session and the recommendations contained therein.
- 69. The Committee made reference to the growing future importance of the Sub-Committee which had to be seen in the context of expanding international fish trade, the interest of both developing and developed countries in trade and the needs and opportunities for assisting the work of other fora. Activities related to product quality, market transparency and functioning, promotion of trade between developing countries, product and production standards, counter trade and identification of trade impediments were specifically mentioned as priority areas for the Sub-Committee's future work. However, care should be taken to avoid the duplication of work with other agencies. FAO's competence and responsibility for formulating proposals for improving the participation of developing countries in international fish trade was stressed.
- 70. In line with the recommendations of the Sub-Committee, FAO was requested to undertake the following activities (the number of the pertinent paragraph of the Report of the Sub-Committee are indicated in brackets):

- To provide data on national import promotion activities of major importing countries (para. 16).
- To re-orientate the activities of INFOPESCA and to coordinate its integration into OLDEPESCA (para. 18).
- To periodically up-date the summary review provided to the Sub-Committee of activities of international organizations other than FAO in matters related to international fish trade (para. 22).
- To study the feasibility of collecting information on national health and sanitation standards for imported and exported products, including product specifications, and their publication with the Register of Import Regulations for Fish and Fishery Products (paras. 25 and 36).
- To prepare specific studies with regard to product and market opportunities for fishery products from developing countries to pave the way for investment (paras. 40 and 41).
- To strengthen further the regional fish marketing information and technical advisory services (para. 43).
- To collect and disseminate information by regional marketing services on counter trade and possibilities for such arrangements (para. 46).
- To make further efforts to increase the quantities of fish used in food aid (para. 47).
- 71. In addition, the Committee suggested that FAO undertake the following:
 - To prepare a study on the fish trade between developing countries and possibilities for its developments.
 - To provide statistics of fish catches by countries and fishing areas.
- 72. Some delegates indicated a particular priority for some of these activities, including those supporting the development of fish export industries, the strengthening of the technical advisory function of the regional fish marketing services in order to facilitate and accelerate transfer of technology, and the removal of trade impediments which prevented the expansion of the markets of exporting countries and thus the further development of their fisheries. Although the work should concentrate on commercial constraints, as expressed by some delegations, FAO should also stimulate other agencies for the development of international fish marketing. The Committee appreciated that FAO could help in identifying barriers which hampered fish trade and thus provide support and guidance for discussions which took place in other fora.
- 73. The Committee endorsed the proposal for a Technical Assistance Programme for Fishery Commodities and Marketing Development, designed to assist developing countries to overcome commercial impediments to international fish trade as described in the annex of document COFI/87/6. It noted that the core units for implementing activities under this programme would be the regional fish marketing information and technical advisory services through which countries would make proposals for specific action. The regional services would elaborate TCDC and ECDC projects on post-harvest and marketing technology aimed at augmenting production and export of fish. The

capabilities of other international organizations and financing agencies, regional fishery and trade organizations, regional development banks and agencies, national institutions and regional networks of TCDC and ECDC would be mustered in support of this programme as well as those of the industry and trade associations. The Committee noted that its Sub-Committee on Fish Trade would regularly review the delivery of the Programme.

- 74. In considering the financial resources for the Programme, the view was expressed that it should be feasible to arrange this under existing bilateral and multilateral financial frameworks. The Committee was informed that when the proposed Programme was adequately elaborated, suitable donors would be approached.
- 75. The Committee noted that the activities of FAO in support of the Sub-Committee continued to be in close collaboration with other international organizations such as the International Trade Centre UNCTAD/GATT (ITC), the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the World Food Programme (WFP). It re-confirmed the view that the work of FAO was complementary to these organizations rather than overlapping and that the Sub-Committee was not intended to duplicate the functions of other organizations.
- 76. The Committee agreed that, in order to have productive discussions, the timing of the next session of the Sub-Committee would depend on the progress made in the work of the Sub-Committee, taking into account the meeting of the Codex Committee on Fish and Fishery Products and the Eighteenth Session of the Committee on Fisheries.

MARKING AND IDENTIFICATION OF FISHING VESSELS

- 77. The subject of marking and identification of fishing vessels had been before the Committee since its Fifteenth Session and had also been considered at the World Fisheries Conference, which had recommended a standardized system. At its Sixteenth Session, the Committee had requested that technical specifications be prepared for the present session with a view to their possible adoption as a standard system. An Expert Consultation, convened by the Director-General in June 1986, had elaborated draft standard specifications which were contained in Part II of document COFI/87/Inf.12 and submitted to the Committee for consideration and possible endorsement.
- 78. The Committee commended the Secretariat and the experts who had participated in the Consultation for the preparation of the draft standard specifications. Noting that presently some forty different marking systems were in use, the Committee supported the concept of a uniform system for the marking of fishing vessels and considered the draft specifications a good basis for implementing such a system. A number of delegations reported that their Governments had already adopted the system recommended by the Consultation, and others said that their systems were essentially similar. The former delegations had found the standard specifications useful and effective in the surveillance of their exclusive economic zones and also in facilitating search and rescue operations.
- 79. Some delegations expressed reservations as to applying the marking system to a large number of small artisanal fishing vessels. It was explained that the system was primarily intended for vessels operating, or likely to operate, in waters other than those of the flag States and the cost of the system proposed would be minimal to governments and fishing vessel owners and mainly consist of maintaining a register.

- 80. The Committee was advised that the draft had been elaborated in close consultation with other international organizations, such as the International Maritime Organization (IMO), the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO). The recent meeting of the IMO Maritime Safety Committee (54th Session, London, April 1987) had confirmed that the FAO proposals did not overlap with or contradict the IMO proposal on ship identification numbers which had been developed to serve a different purpose and explicitly excluded fishing vessels.
- 81. As regards a standardized system for the marking of fishing gear, the Committee felt that the complexities of this issue were large and that it would be difficult to discuss the matter at this stage without further studies.
- 82. Certain delegations supported the proposal that the FAO Council be requested to invite Member Governments and other international organizations concerned with fisheries management to implement the system as far as practical. Several other delegations stated that their governments would require time to review the proposed marking system. The Committee suggested that the matter be further considered by both the Committee on Fisheries and the FAO Council.
- 83. It was noted that the system would be without prejudice to international conventions and to national or bilateral practices or requirements.

PROTECTION OF LIVING RESOURCES FROM ENTANGLEMENT IN FISHING NETS AND DEBRIS

- 84. In discussing the questions raised in document COFI/87/8 the Committee pointed to the difference between entanglement in marine debris and the incidental capture of living resources other than those targeted by the fishery. It was felt that these two issues could be usefully separated.
- 85. As regards entanglement in marine debris, the Committee felt that this could best be pursued on a global basis, with one or more international bodies collecting data on the extent and the nature of the phenomenon. The application of the provisions of anti-dumping legislation, e.g. the London Dumping Convention, the Barcelona Convention and the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) were of paramount importance in this context and the Committee felt that the International Maritime Organization (IMO) could take a leading role in monitoring of entanglement in marine debris.
- 86. As regards incidental capture, the Committee noted that regional fishery commissions and other bodies with related responsibilities could be the appropriate fora to recommend follow-up actions, such as monitoring incidental catches of marine mammals, turtles, birds and other organisms. The Committee agreed that this issue could become an element within the framework of fisheries resources management, and recognized the efforts made by the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR). A few delegations also pointed out that such marine catches were used in their countries.
- 87. The Committee was of the opinion that it was the responsibility of national administrations to supply data and information and to introduce and enforce adequate measures to avoid both entanglement and incidental catches. In this context, the importance of education of fishermen and seafarers in general, as well as the exchange of pertinent information, were emphasized by several delegations.

- 88. Several delegations felt that in the light of other pressing needs for the development of fisheries, these matters should presently have a lower priority in the work of FAO and the Committee on Fisheries. Other delegations pointed to the need for immediate actions in some areas.
- 89. It was noted that future work in this field by the Secretariat would be carried out in cooperation with other bodies, such as UNEP and the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), subject to the availability of extra-budgetary funds.

REVIEW OF THE ACTIVITIES OF FAO REGIONAL FISHERY BODIES

- 90. The Committee expressed its satisfaction that this topic had been placed on the agenda, particularly as it had not been discussed at recent sessions. Although the Committee considered that document COFI/87/9 was very comprehensive, it requested that this item be placed again on the Agenda of its Eighteenth Session, and that the next report should also include a detailed and functional analysis of the scope, objectives and achievements of the various bodies. To assist in preparing this, it was suggested that the different FAO regional fishery bodies and/or their subsidiaries carry out an in-depth evaluation of their own activities during the intersessional period.
- 91. The Committee unanimously recognized the key role of the FAO regional fishery bodies as fora to exchange information and experience and to recommend measures for the development and management of fisheries and to facilitate the harmonization of policies. It recommended that administrative and technical support to these bodies be given the highest priority in FAO's programmes.
- 92. To ensure the efficient functioning of the regional fishery bodies it was recognized that it was desirable for all member countries to participate in their sessions.
- 93. The European Economic Community (EEC) expressed its interest in the work of the FAO regional fishery bodies and the wish to collaborate more directly in the activities of some of them. Attention was drawn to the special circumstances involved in such participation by EEC and reference was made to the effective implementation of stock management measures and to bilateral fisheries agreements between EEC and the developing countries in order to provide a sustained financial contribution. It was recognized that this problem was beyond the competence of the Committee. It was felt, however, that solutions to this problem should, for the time being, be sought on a case-by-case basis.
- 94. With the expansion of world fisheries and the consequent need for improved management, some bodies were being required to exercise an increasing role in this regard.
- 95. The Committee recognized that the increasing number of meetings together with the world economic situation were placing financial strains both on the member countries and on FAO. FAO was urged to seek international and bilateral funding to increase participation of member countries in the work of the regional bodies. It was noted that in some cases attendance at meetings of the bodies could be facilitated through the organization of a symposium or seminar in conjunction with the session.
- 96. Another important mechanism for support to regional bodies had been through the establishment of regional projects to supplement their work. The

Committee noted that the extra-budgetary support for these activities was decreasing. This mechanism had been particularly successful in the region of the Fishery Committee for the Eastern Central Atlantic (CECAF), where there was a need to continue the existing project after its expiry date at the end of 1987. The Committee also expressed its great appreciation for the work of the General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean (GFCM) and the hope that a supporting project could be funded in the Mediterranean.

97. The Committee was informed of the close collaboration that existed with non-FAO regional bodies such as the Latin American Organization for Fisheries Development (OLDEPESCA), the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR), the International Commission for the South east Atlantic Fisheries (ICSEAF), the Permanent Commission for the South Pacific (CPPS) and the South Pacific Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA). It was noted that the scope and activities of FAO regional fishery bodies did not overlap with these and other international and bilateral organizations involved with fisheries but were complementary. For this reason the Committee requested that efforts be made to increase the involvement of such organizations in the work of FAO regional fishery bodies. Furthermore, some delegations pointed out that the number of international organizations dealing with fisheries had considerably increased over the last decade while budgetary resources were insufficient thus detracting from chances of reaching fisheries management agreements.

THE WORK OF FAO IN FISHERIES DURING 1988-89

- 98. The Committee reviewed document COFI/87/10 which provided an extract from the Director-General's Proposed Summary Programme of Work and Budget 1988-89, to be submitted to the Ninety-first Session of the Council in June 1987. The Committee also had before it an extract from the Report of the Fifty-second Session of the Programme Committee (document COFI/87/Inf.13).
- 99. The Committee's attention was drawn to the new format of the Summary Programme of Work and Budget which provided more information on the strategies and priorities of the Organization and the programme changes reflected in the budget proposals. In presenting the summary budget proposals, it was pointed out that as compared with a 0.5 percent increase for the Organization as a whole, the programme increase proposed for the Major Programme Fisheries was 1.9 percent.
- 100. Some members stated that their comments could only be preliminary as there had not been sufficient time for the documents to be studied by their authorities.
- 101. The Committee noted that the proposals for Major Programme 2.2: Fisheries were clearly based on the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development and the Programmes of Action approved by the World Fisheries Conference.
- 102. A number of delegations expressed their appreciation for the improvements in the presentation of the Summary Programme of Work and Budget which provided a clearer indication of resource allocations and of the strategy and priority changes proposed. A more complete picture would be available in the Director-General's full Programme of Work and Budget, to be presented to the FAO Conference in November 1987. This would also provide more comprehensive information on the distribution of resources to the geographic regions.
- 103. As regards Programme 2.2.1: Fisheries Information, the Committee supported proposals for the core activities and priorities and suggested that

FAO should emphasize activities in which the Organization had a comparative advantage in capabilities with respect to other agencies. The Committee supported proposed activities related to the collection and dissemination of global fishery statistics, the provision of assistance to developing countries in the establishment of statistical systems and fishery data centres, the efforts to improve the quality of FAO's fishery statistics databases in conjunction with member countries and regional bodies, and the participation of the Fisheries Department in the development of the Organization's Geographic Information System (GIS).

104. The Committee stressed the importance of the work carried out under Sub-Programme 2.2.2.1: Marine Resources and Environment, especially in relation to Programme of Action I. Appreciation was expressed for the useful work carried out by the three outposted officers. Several delegations emphasized that due attention should also be given to the environmental aspects of marine and inland fisheries as well as aquaculture.

105. The proposed increase in resources for aquaculture under Sub-Programme 2.2.2.2: Inland Fisheries and Aquaculture was welcomed. Considering the importance of this area as a focus for future growth in fish production, several delegations noted that aquaculture would need even more attention. The importance of inland fisheries was also highlighted. The Committee expressed satisfaction for the emphasis given to resource planning for aquaculture and inland fisheries.

106. The strengthening of activities related to small-scale fisheries and training under Sub-Programme 2.2.2.3: Fish Production was noted, in particular, the attention being paid to the role of women and youth in fisheries. The Committee supported the proposed increase under Sub-Programme 2.2.2.4: Fish Utilization and Marketing in order to strengthen the activities of the Fish Marketing Information Services. Due attention should also be given under this Sub-Programme to the reduction of post-harvest losses and to enhancing the role of fisheries in alleviating under-nutrition.

107. The Committee noted that under Sub-Programme 2.2.3.1: Fisheries Policy and Planning no net programme changes had been proposed. It welcomed the high priority to be given to training on the planning of fisheries development, management and investment. Particular reference was made to the need for continued assistance to member countries in their efforts to design and implement effective systems for the monitoring, control and surveillance of fishing efforts in their respective fishing zones by both domestic and foreign vessels. In addition to such advice and training in planning, the Committee called for emphasis to be placed on the socio-economic aspects of development and management of small-scale fisheries and the maintenance and updating of the Fishery Country Profile series.

108. The Committee also recommended that continued attention be accorded to analytical work on the present and prospective fish supply and demand situation with particular reference to the impact of prices. With regard to Sub-Programme 2.2.3.2: International Coordination and Liaison, the Committee expressed its satisfaction that an increase was proposed in the resources to be devoted to strengthening support for the activities of FAO regional bodies and their technical working parties.

109. The Committee supported the conclusion of the Programme Committee at its Fifty-second Session that the proposals for Major Programme 2.2: Fisheries responded to the needs of member countries and agreed that the Summary

Programme of Work and Budget provided a satisfactory basis for the formulation of the full Programme of Work and Budget in fisheries for 1988-89.

ANY OTHER MATTERS

110. The Committee was informed of progress in the preparation of guidelines and specifications for the removal of abandoned offshore structures which were being prepared by the International Maritime Organization (IMO) for the safety of navigation. These guidelines and specifications would be further reviewed by IMO, which would then decide on the bodies and organizations to which the draft text should be referred before its Maritime Safety Committee took further action.

DATE AND PLACE OF THE EIGHTEENTH SESSION OF THE COMMITTEE

111. It was agreed that the Committee should meet in Rome in April 1989. The exact date would be determined by the Director-General in consultation with the Chairman.

ADOPTION OF THE REPORT

112. This report was adopted on 22 May 1987.

APPENDIX A

Agenda

- 1. Opening of the Session
- 2. Adoption of the agenda and arrangements for the Session
- 3. Election of Officers
- 4. World fisheries situation
- 5. Follow-up to the 1984 FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development
 - (a) Progress in the implementation of the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development
 - (b) Progress in the implementation of the Programmes of Action
 - (c) Progress in the implementation of the Resolutions concerning specific aspects of fisheries management and development
- 6. Report on the First Session of the COFI Sub-Committee on Fish Trade, Rome, 7-10 October 1986
- 7. Marking and identification of fishing vessels
- 8. Protection of living resources from entanglement in fishing nets and debris
- 9. Review of the activities of FAO regional fishery bodies
- 10. The work of FAO in fisheries during 1988-89
- 11. Any other matters
- 12. Date and place of the Eighteenth Session of the Committee
- 13. Adoption of the Report

APPENDIX B

LIST OF DELEGATES AND OBSERVERS

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

ALGERIA

GHEMARI, Amar Directeur du Développement et de la Pêche Ministère de l'Agriculture et des Pêches Alger

HAMMAZ, Djamel Eddine Administrateur des Affaires Maritimes Ministère de l'Agriculture et des pêches Alger

ANGOLA

KANGA, Pedro Agostinho
Conseiller/Représentant
permanent adjoint d'Angola
auprès de la FAO
Ambassade de la République
populaire d'Angola
Via Filippo Bernardini 21
00165 Rome

NOGUEIRES, Manuel Domingos Deuxième Secrétaire Ambassade de la République populaire d'Angola Via Filippo Bernardini 21 Rome

ARGENTINA

JAIMES, Luis Enrique Subsecretario de Pesca Ministerio de Economía Secretaría de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca 1305 Buenos Aires

GONZALEZ, Guillermo Enrique Representante Permanente de la República Argentina ante la FAO Embajada de la República Argentina Piazza dell'Esquilino 2 00185 Roma

RUIZ CERUTTI, Susana Embajador Embajada de la República Argentina Piazza dell'Esquilino 2 00185 Roma

DEREGIBUS, Mónica
Segundo Secretario
Representante Permanente
Alterna de la República
Argentina ante la FAO
Embajada de la República
Argentina
Piazza dell'Esquilino 2
00185 Roma

AUSTRALIA

BLAMEY, Michael Director Australian Fisheries Service Canberra

RYAN, Michael J.
Counsellor (Agriculture)
Alternate Permanent Representative of Australia to FAO
Australian Embassy
Via Alessandria 215
00198 Rome

BANGLADESH

KHAN, Sirajul Hossain Minister for Fisheries and Livestock Government of Bangladesh Dhaka

RAHMAN, Waliur Ambassador/Permanent Representative of Bangladesh to FAO Embassy of the People's Republic of Bangladesh Via Antonio Bertoloni 14 00197 Rome

MAJID, M.L.
Joint Secretary
Ministry of Fisheries
and Livestock
Dhaka

FAZLEY RABBI, A.K.M.
Counsellor/Alternate Permanent
Representative of
Bangladesh to FAO
Embassy of the People's
Republic of Bangladesh
Via Antonio Bertoloni 14
00197 Rome

MONTAFIZUR, Khan
Asst. Private Secretary
Minister for Fisheries
Ministry of Fisheries
and Livestock
Dhaka

BELGIUM

SAINTRAINT, Antoine
Ambassadeur auprès de la FAO
Représentation permanente
du Royaume de la Belgique
auprès de la FAO
Via Omero 8
00197 Rome

HOVART, Pierre
Directeur, Station pêche
maritime de l'Etat
Ministère de l'Agriculture et
de la Pêche maritime
Ankerstraat 1
B-8400 Ostende

VERMOORTEL, Alfred
Ingénieur
Ministère de l'Agriculture et
de la Pêche Maritime
Vrijhavenstraat 5
B-8400 Ostende

BENIN

BRAZIL

DE MEDICIS, Joao Augusto Ambassador to FAO Permanent Representation of the Federative Republic of Brazil to FAO Via di S. Maria dell'Anima 32 00186 Rome

CHAGAS MACHADO, Francesco Economist, SUDEPE Av. N/3 Norte Quadro 506 Edificio da Pesca Brasilia, D.F.

BARBUDA, Almir F.
Counsellor/Alternate Permanent
Representative of Brazil
to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the Federative Republic
of Brazil to FAO
Via di S. Maria dell'Anima 32
00186 Rome

KIPMAN, Igor
Alternate Permanent Representative of Brazil to FAO
Permanent Representation of the Federative Republic of Brazil to FAO
Via di S. Maria dell'Anima 32
00186 Rome

PEDROSO, Luis Eduardo
Third Secretary
Permanent Representation of
the Federative Republic
of Brazil to FAO
Via di S. Maria dell'Anima 32
00186 Rome

BULGARIA

DIMITROV, Jeko
Minister Plenipotentiary to
FAO/Permanent Representative
of Bulgaria to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the People's Republic of
Bulgaria to FAO.
Via Pietro Paolo Rubens 21
00197 Rome

STOYANOV, Vladimir
Deputy Permanent Representative of Bulgaria to FAO
Permanent Representation of the People's Republic of Bulgaria to FAO
Via Pietro Paolo Rubens 21
00197 Rome

BURKINA FASO

PITROIPA, Amado Représentant permanent du Burkina Faso auprès de la FAO Ambassade du Burkina Faso Via Alessandria 26 00198 Rome GANSORE, Lazare
Premier Secrétaire/Représentant permanent suppléant
du Burkina Faso auprès
de la FAO
Ambassade du Burkina Faso
Via Alessandria 26
00198 Rome

BURUNDI

NYAKAGENI, Boniface Directeur des Eaux et Forêts Ministère de l'Agriculture et de l'Elevage B.P. 631 Bujumbura

CAMEROON

SATIA, N.P.B.
Directeur adjoint des Pêches
Ministère de l'Elevage,
des Pêches et des
Industries Animales
Yaoundé

YANGA, Thomas
Représentant permanent adjoint
du Cameroun auprès de la FAO
Ambassade de la République
du Cameroun
Via di Pietra 82A
00186 Rome

CANADA

CROWLEY, R.W.
Director-General
Economic and Commercial
Analysis Directorate
Department of Fisheries
and Oceans
200 Kent Street
Ottawa, Ontario KIA 0E6

WHITE, B.
Director, Fisheries and
Fish Products Division
Department of External Affairs
125 Sussex Drive
Ottawa, Ontario KIA 0E6

MUSGROVE, G.H.
Permanent Representative
of Canada to FAO
Canadian Embassy
Via G. Battista de Rossi 27
00161 Rome

LEBLANC, Guy
Chief, Fisheries Sector
Canadian International
Development Agency
200 Promenade du Portage
Hull, Quebec KIA 064

CUTTS, James M.
Director of Ship Branch
Department of Fisheries and
Oceans
200 Kent Street
Ottawa, Ontario

CAPE VERDE

PERES, Antonio
Ambassadeur auprès de la FAO
Représentation permanente de
la République du Cap-Vert
auprès de la FAO
Viale Algeria 85-89
00144 Rome

SPENCER LOPES, Amilcar
Conseiller, Représentant
permanent adjoint du
Cap-Vert auprès de la FAO
Représentation permanente de
la République du Cap-Vert
auprès de la FAO
Viale Algeria 85-89
00144 Rome

CHILE

CABEZAS BELLO, Roberto Subsecretario de Pesca Ministerio de Economía, Fomento y Reconstrucción Bellavista 168, piso 18 Valparaiso CARRASCO, Germán
Representante Permanente de
Chile ante la FAO
Representación Permanente de
la República de Chile
ante la FAO
Via Nazionale 54, 20 piso
00184 Roma

INOSTROSA CORTES, Felix
Jefe, División Recursos
Instituto Fomento Pesquero
Ministerio de Economia,
Fomento y Reconstrucción
Avenida P. de Valdivia 2633
Santiago

CHINA

TU, Feng Jun
Director of Fishery Department
Ministry of Agriculture,
Animal Husbandry
and Fisheries
Beijing

CONG, Chunquan
Senior Engineer
Deputy Division Chief
Fishery Management Department
Ministry of Agriculture,
Animal Husbandry
and Fisheries
Beijing

ZHAO Pei Heng
Engineer
Foreign Affairs Department
Ministry of Agriculture,
Animal Husbandry
and Fisheries
Beijing

ZHANG, Xi
Economist, Fishery Department
Ministry of Agriculture,
Animal Husbandry
and Fisheries
Beijing

ZHANG, Yan Hua
Project Officer
Department of Foreign
Affairs
Ministry of Agriculture,
Animal Husbandry
and Fisheries
Beijing

COLOMBIA

BULA HOYOS, Gonzalo Embajador ante la FAO Representación Permanente de la República de Colombia ante la FAO Via Giuseppe Pisanelli 4 00196 Roma

DIAZ, Guillermo Alberto Capitan de Fragata Agregado Naval del Gobierno de Colombia

FERNANDEZ, Olga Clemencia
Primer Secretario/Representante Permanente Alterno de
Colombia ante la FAO
Representación Permanente de
la República de Colombia
ante la FAO
Via Giuseppe Pisanelli 4
00196 Roma

CONGO

MAKAYAT, Christian Charles Directeur Cabinet/Secrétaire Général Pêche Ministère de l'Industrie, de la Pêche et de l'Artisanat B.P. 2117 Brazzaville

BITOUMA, Andre Directeur de la Pêche Maritime Ministère de l'Industrie, de la Pêche et de l'Artisanat B.P. 1650 Brazzaville MOMBOULI, Michel
Conseiller, Representant
Permanent adjoint du Congo
auprès de la FAO
Représentation permanente de
la République populaire du
Congo auprès de la FAO
Via Flaminia 79, Int. 3
00196 Rome

COSTA RICA

DI MOTTOLA BALESTRA, Carlo Embajador ante la FAO Representación Permanente de la República de Costa Rica ante la FAO Via Francesco Siacci 2B 00197 Roma

GAGO DI SINIGAGLIA, Yolanda Representante Permanente Alterno de Costa Rica ante la FAO Representación Permanente de la República de Costa Rica ante la FAO Via Francesco Siacci 2B 00197 Roma

COTE-D'IVOIRE

YOMAN, Daniel Konan
Représentant Permanent adjoint
de Côte-d'Ivoire auprès
de la FAO
Ambassade de la République de
Côte-d'Ivoire
Via Lazzaro Spallanzani 4-7
00161 Rome

CUBA

ARIZA HIDALGO, L.
Embajador, Representante
Permanente de Cuba ante
la FAO
Via Licinia 13a
00153 Roma

PAEZ, Juan
Director de Desarrollo
Ministerio de la Industria
Pesquera
Barlovento-Taimanitos
La Habana

ROSQUETE, Miriam Especialista, Ministerio de la Industria Pesquera La Habana

INZAULGARAT GARCIA DE PEREZ,
Miriam
Representante Alterno de
Cuba ante la FAO
Representación Permanente
de la República de Cuba
ante la FAO
Via Licinia 13a
OO153 Roma

DUEÑAS, Pedro
Tercer Secretario
Representación Permanente
de la República de Cuba
ante la FAO
Via Licinia 13a
OO153 Roma

CYPRUS

CZECHOSLOVAKIA

DEMOCRATIC PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF KOREA

SOK LYONG, Kang
Deputy Permanent Representative of the D.P.R. of
Korea to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the Democratic People's
Republic of Korea to FAO
Viale Libano 28
00144 Rome

CHA CHOL MA, Cha
Attaché
Permanent Representation of
the Democratic People's
Republic of Korea to FAO
Viale Libano 28
00144 Rome

DENMARK

GLISTRUP, John
Permanent Representative of
Denmark to FAO
The Royal Danish Embassy
Via dei Monti Parioli 50
00197 Rome

POULSEN, Ole Head of Section Ministry of Fisheries Stormgade 2 DK-1470 Copenhagen

SOENDERGAARD, Joergen
Head of Section
Groenlands Hjemmestyre
Danmarkskontoret
P.O. Box 2151, Sjaeleboderne 2
DK-1122 Copenhagen

LOEKKEGAARD, Knud Adviser Det Groenlandske Hjemmestyre Danmarkskontoret P.O. Box 2151, Sjaeleboderne 2 DK-1122 Copenhagen

ARNE PEDERSEN, Lisbeth Ministry of Foreign Affairs Asiatisk Plads 2 DK-1448 Copenhagen

DOMINICA

BENJAMIN, McDonald, Ambassador, Permanent Representative of Dominica to FAO Embassy of Dominica Via Laurentina 767 00143 Rome

ECUADOR

JIJON FREILE, José Ignacio Representante Permanente Encargado de Ecuador ante la FAO Embajada de la República del Ecuador Via Guido d'Arezzo 14 00198 Roma

EGYPT

EL GAZZAR, Abdel Azim
Agricultural Counsellor
Alternate Permanent Representative to Egypt to FAO
Embassy of the Arab Republic of Egypt
Via Salaria 267 (Villa Savoia)
Rome

EL SALVADOR

EQUATORIAL GUINEA

ALOGO NCHAMA, Angel Ministro-Delegado a la Presidencia Ministerio de Aguas, Bosques y Repoblación Forestal Malabo

BAYEME AYINGONO, Pedro-Bayeme Director General de Aguas y Pesca Ministerio de Aguas, Bosques y Repoblación Forestal Malabo

BICORO ECO ADA, José Tecnico de Pesca Ministerio de Aguas, Bosques y Repoblación Forestal Malabo

ETHIOPIA

YILALA, Assefa
Alternate Permanent Representative of Ethiopia to FAO
Embassy of the Provisional
Military Government of
Socialist Ethiopia
Via Cristoforo Colombo 440
00145 Rome

FINLAND

NISKANEN, Pekka Chief Inspector of Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Hallituskatu 3A 00170 Helsinki MUNNE, Pentti
Chief Inspector
Ministry of Agriculture
and Forestry
Hallituskatu 3A
00170 Helsinki

FRANCE

GARACHE, Serge
Chargé de Mission auprès du
Directeur des Pêches,
Maritimes et des
Cultures marines
Secrétariat d'Etat à la Mer
3 Place Fontenoy
75700 Paris

TROADEC, Jean-Paul Directeur des Ressources vivantes IFREMER 66 Av. d'Iéna 75116 Paris

PARRES, Alain Délégué général Union des Armateurs de France 59 Rue des Mathurins 75008 Paris

GABON

NGUEMA-NZE, Jean Fidèle Ambassadeur auprès de la FAO Représentation permanente de la République gabonaise auprès de la FAO Via Aterno 9 00198 Rome

ELLA-EFOULOU, Moïse
Secrétaire Principal
CNFAO
Ministère d'Agriculture,
Elevage et Economie
rurale
B.P.551
Libreville

DIAS DA GRACA, Ivone
Représentant Permanent
adjoint du Gabon auprès
de la FAO
Représentation permanente de
la République gabonaise
auprès de la FAO
Via Trionfale 119
Rome

GAMBIA

OTHMAN, Ousman
Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Water Resources
and the Environment
6 Marina Parade
Banjul

JOOF, Cherno Omar Director of Fisheries Department of Fisheries 6 Marina Parade Banjul

GERMANY, FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF

KLEESCHULTE, Norbert
Head of Division
Federal Ministry of
Food, Agriculture and
Forestry
Rochustrasse 1
5300 Bonn

BAIER, Alois
Alternate Permanent
Representative of the
Federal Republic of
Germany to FAO
Via Giovanni Paisiello 24
00198 Roma

DIETERLE, Gerhard
Alternate Permanent
Representative of the
Federal Republic of
Germany to FAO
Via Giovanni Paisiello 24
00198 Roma

GHANA

DOWUONA, V.N.
Director of Fisheries
Fisheries Department
Ministry of Agriculture
Accra

GREECE

IERONIMAKI, Zabetta
Alternate Permanent Representative of Greece to FAO
Chargé d'Affaires a.i.
Permanent Representation of Greece to FAO
Viale Liegi 33, Palazzina B
00198 Rome

BATZIA-MANOLITSAKIS, Penelope Agronomist, Permanent Representation of Greece to FAO Viale Liegi 33, Palazzina B 00198 Rome

GUATEMALA

LOPEZ, Hector M.
Embajador, Representante
Permanente de Guatemala
ante la FAO
Embajada de la República
de Guatemala
Via Archimede 35
00197 Roma

KRACHT, Maria Lara
Representante Permanente
Alterna de Guatemala
ante la FAO
Embajada de la República
de Guatemala
Via Archimede 35
00197 Roma

GUINEA-BISSAU

TURPIN, Paul F.R.
Directeur des Relations
Internationales
Secrétariat d'Etat aux Pêches
Caixa Postal No. 102
Bissau

SANE, Malal Directeur du Bureau d'Etudes Secrétariat d'Etat aux Pêches Caixa Postal No. 102 Bissau

HONDURAS

REINA, Mayra Agregada, Suplente Embajada de la República de Honduras Via Andrea Bafile 5, Int. 4 00195 Roma

HUNGARY

PINTER, Karoly Senior Officer Ministry of Agriculture and Food Kossuth Lajos ter 11 H-1055 Budapest V

ICELAND

ARNASON, Halldor
Director of Fish Inspection
Icelandic Fish Quality
Institution
Reykjavik

INDIA

SIBAL, V.K.
Alternate Permanent
Representative of India
to FAO
Embassy of the Republic
of India
Via XX Settembre 5
00187 Rome

KALARICKAL, Joseph Joint Commissioner Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture Department of Agriculture New Delhi

INDONESIA

HARTAWAN, Adang
Chief, Economic Division
Alternate Permanent Representative of Indonesia to FAO
Embassy of the Republic
of Indonesia
Via Campania 53
00187 Rome

ATMADJA, Hidayat Ganda Assistant Attaché, Agriculture Embassy of the Republic of Indonesia Via Campania 53 00187 Rome

IRAN (ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF)

NIKKAR ISFAHANI, Hamid Reza Ambassador to FAO/Permanent Representation of the Islamic Republic of Iran to FAO Via Aventina 8 00153 Rome

IRAQ

AL MESH-HEDANI, Tawfid A.H.
Alternate Permanent
Representative of
Iraq to FAO
Embassy of the Republic
of Iraq
Via della Camilluccia 355
00135 Rome

IRELAND

RYAN, Oliver
Deputy Permanent Representative of Ireland
to FAO
Irish Embassy
Largo del Nazareno 3
00187 Roma

ISRAEL

ITALY

MAGGIO APRILE, Giuseppe Direttore di Divisione Direzione Generale Pesca Marittima Ministero Marina Mercantile Viale Asia Roma

CIMMINO, Claudio Segretariato Generale Ministero Ricerca Scientifica Lungotevere Thaon di Revel 76 Roma

DELLA SETA, Giovanni Funzionario Servizio della Pesca Ministero di Agricoltura e Foreste Viale Caravaggio Roma

ERCOLI, Emilio Vice Direttore Generale Ministero della Sanità P.le Industrie 20 Roma

FRITELLI ANNIBALDI, Anna Teresa Représentant permanent adjoint de l'Italie auprès de la FAO Représentation permanente de l'Italie auprès de la FAO Piazza Margana 19 00186 Rome

JAPAN

NAKAMURA, Koji
Director of Research
Department
Fisheries Agency
2-1-2 Kasumigaseki
Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo

NAKAZAWA, Sumiji Counsellor, Embassy of Japan Via Quintino Sella 60 00187 Rome OKUNO, Masaru
Deputy Director
International Affairs Division
Fisheries Agency
1-2-1 Kasumigaseki
Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo

KUME, Tomofumi
Alternate Permanent Representative of Japan to FAO
Embassy of Japan
Via Quintino Sella 60
00187 Rome

TAKAGI, Yoshihiro Special Adviser Overseas Fishery Cooperation Foundation Tokyo

KENYA

ODERO, Norbert
Director of Fisheries
Ministry of Tourism and
Wildlife
P.O. Box 58187
Nairobi

ALLELA, Samuel
Director of Research
Ministry of Tourism and
Wildlife
P.O. Box 81651
Mombasa

ROSANA, Andrew
Counsellor
Permanent Representation
of the Republic of
Kenya to FAO
Via Icilio 14
00153 Rome

GUANTAI, Stanley Mukindia Counsellor (Agriculture) Permanent Representation of the Republic of Kenya to FAO Via Icilio 14 00153 Rome

KOREA, REPUBLIC OF

HA, Sung-Hwan
Director-General
Fisheries Promotion Bureau
National Fisheries
Administration
Ministry of Agriculture,
Forestry and Fisheries
19th Floor, Daewoo Bldg
Yangdong, Chungku
Seoul

KUWAIT

LIBERIA

LIBYA

SAID, Bashir
Minister Plenipotentiary
to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the Socialist People's
Libyan Arab Jamahiriya
to FAO
Via Nomentana 365
OO162 Rome

MADAGASCAR

MALAWI

MALAYSIA

JUSOH, Mazlan
Alternate Permanent
Representative of
Malaysia to FAO
Embassy of Malaysia
Via Nomentana 297
00162 Rome

MOHAMMED, Mohd. Zulkifli Alternate Permanent Representative of Malaysia to FAO Embassy of Malaysia Via Nomentana 297 00162 Rome

MALDIVES

MANIKU, Maizan Hassan Senior Fisheries Development Officer Ministry of Fisheries Malé

MAURITANIA

MAHMOUD, Cherif Ahmed Secretaire Général Ministère des Pêches et de l'Economie maritime B.P. 137 Nouakchott

BA, Moctar Directeur, CNROP B.P. 22 Nouadhibou

MOHAMED MAHOMED, Jeilani Directeur Pêche artisanale Ministère des Pêches et de l'Economie maritime B.P.137 Nouakchott

MAURITIUS

MEXICO

OJEDA PAULLADA, Pedro Secretario de Pesca Secretaria de Pesca Avenida Alvaro Obregón 269 México, 06700 D.F.

CASTRO Y CASTRO, F. Subsecretario Secretaría de Pesca Avenida Alvaro Obregón 269 México, 06700 D.F.

LOPEZ PORTILLO ROMANO, J.R.
Ministro Plenipotenciario
ante la FAO
Representación Permanente
de los Estados Unidos
Mexicanos ante la FAO
Viale Pasteur 65, Int. 8
00144 Roma

MEDINA MORA, E.
Coordinador de Asesores
del Subsecretario de Pesca
Secretaría de Pesca
Avenída Alvaro Obregón 269
México, 06700 D.F.

LIZARRAGA SAUCEDO, M.
Consejero para Asuntos
Pesqueros, Representación
Permanente de los Estados
Unidos Mexicanos ante
la FAO
Viale Pasteur 65, Int. 8
00144 Roma

MOROCCO

MCHACHTI, Mohamed
Directeur Général adjoint
Office national des Pêches
Ministère des Pêches et
de la Marine marchande
13/15 Rue Chevalier Bayard
Casablanca

RAMI, Mohammed
Directeur, Institut scientifique des Pêches maritimes
Ministère des Pêches
maritimes et de la
Marine marchande
2 Rue de Tiznit
Casablanca

IDELHAJ, Abdelouahed Ingénieur des Pêches Ministère des Pêches maritimes et de la Marine marchande 2 Rue de Tiznit Casablanca

NETHERLANDS

HERTOG, L.Th.B.

Minister Plenipotentiary
to FAO, Permanent
Representation of the
Kingdom of the Netherlands
to FAO

Via delle Terme Deciane 6
00153 Rome

FRELING, A.C.
Ministry of Agriculture
and Fisheries
Postbus 20401
The Hague

DEN HELD, A.
Policy Officer, Directorate
for Development Cooperation
Ministry of Agriculture
and Fisheries
Postbus 20401
The Hague

NEW ZEALAND

CROTHERS, G.T.
Chief Fisheries Officer
Ministry of Agriculture
and Fisheries
Wellington

NICARAGUA

HODGSON, Fernando Vice Ministro Instituto Nicaraguense de 1a Pesca (INPESCA) A.P. 2000 Managua

CARRION, Humberto
Embajador de Nicaragua
ante la FAO, Representación
Permanente de la República
de Nicaragua ante la FAO
Via Panama 12, int. 9
00198 Roma

SEGURA, Armando Secretario General Instituto Nicaraguense de 1a Pesca (INPESCA) A.P. 2000 Managua

PORRAS, Angela Rosa
Directora Relaciones
Internacionales
Instituto Nicaraguense de
la Pesca (INPESCA)
A.P. 2000
Managua

ESPINOSA, Virginia
Representante Permanente
Alterno de Nicaragua
ante la FAO
Representación Permanente
de la República de
Nicaragua ante la FAO
Via Panama 12, int. 9
00198 Roma

FONSECA, Edgardo
Representante Permanente
Alterno de Nicaragua
ante la FAO
Representación Permanente
de la República de
Nicaragua ante la FAO
Roma

NIGER

BAWA, Sahadou
Représentant Permanent
du Niger auprès de
la FAO
Ambassade de la République
du Niger
Via Portagora 29
Casal Palocco
00124 Rome

NIGERIA

APANPA DURO, Alhaji
Director of Fisheries
Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Water Resources
and Rural Development
Federal Department of
Fisheries
P.M.B. 12529
Victoria Island
Lagos

NORWAY

LEIRO, Jostein
Senior Executive Officer
Ministry of Development
Cooperation
P.O. Box 1542 Dep.
0033 Oslo 1

HAUGE, Marius Head of Division Ministry of Fisheries P.O., Box 8118 dep. Oslo 1

KAMSVAG, Nils Ragnar
Alternate Permanent
Representative of
Norway to FAO
The Royal Norwegian Embassy
Via delle Terme Deciane 7
00153 Rome

WILLIAMS, Johan H.
Head of Division
Ministry of Development
Cooperation
P.O. Box 8142 Dep.
0033 Oslo 1

VARN, Vigdis
Project Officer
Ministry of Development
Cooperation
P.O. Box 8142 Dep.
0033 Oslo 1

SAETERSDAL, Gunnar Head of Division Institute of Marine Research Bergen

PAKISTAN

MUSHARRAF, Javed
Agricultural Counsellor
Alternate Permanent
Representative of
Pakistan to FAO
Embassy of the Islamic
Republic of Pakistan
Via della Camilluccia 682
00135 Rome

PANAMA

WATSON, José Manuel Embajador ante la FAO Representación Permanente de la República de Panamá ante la FAO Via dei Gracchi 161, 2º piso 00192 Roma ACUÑA HUMPHRIES, Alfredo Representante Permanente Alterno de Panamá ante la FAO Representación Permanente de la República de Panamá ante la FAO Via dei Gracchi 161, 20 piso 00192 Roma

DE VILLAMONTE, Delia Ministro Consejero Representación Permanente de la República de Panamá ante la FAO Via dei Gracchi 161, 2º piso 00192 Roma

MALTEZ, Horacio Consejero Agrícola y de Pesca Representación Permanente de la República de Panamá ante la FAO Via dei Gracchi 161, 2º piso 00192 Roma

PERU

LABARTHE CORREA, Javier Ministro Ministerio de Pesquería Lima

MOLINA MONTOYA, Eduardo Asesor del Ministro de Pesca Paseo de la República 3103 San Isidoro, Lima

ZUÑIGA TRELLES, W.
Embajador del Perú ante la FAO
Representación Permanente de
la República del Perú
ante la FAO
Via Cesare Federici 2, int. 16
00147 Roma

PHILIPPINES

MALIG, J.B.
Director, Bureau of Fisheries
and Aquatic Résources
Department of Agriculture
860 Quezon Avenue
Quezon City
Metro Manila

CARANDANG, H.M.
Agricultural Attaché/
Alternate Permanent
Representative of the
Philippines to FAO
Embassy of the Republic
of the Philippines
Via S. Valentino 12-14
00197 Rome

POLAND

POSPIESZYNSKI, Ryszard First-Deputy Minister Ministry of Maritime Economy ul. Hoza 20 Warsaw

WRZESNIEWSKI, Ireneusz
Vice-Director
Department of International
Cooperation
Ministry of Maritime
Economy
ul. Hoza 20
Warsaw

ORZESZKO, Jan
Alternate Permanent Representative of Poland to FAO
Embassy of the Polish
People's Republic
Via Pietro Paolo Rubens 20
00197 Rome

KARNICKI, Zbigniew
Deputy-Director
Sea Fisheries Institute
ul. Zyednoczenia
81-345 Gydnia

PORTUGAL

PAULINO PEREIRA, Helio
Président de la Commission
nationale des Pêches et
des Ressources vivantes
Ministerio da Agricultura,
Pescas e Alimentacao
Secretaria de Estado das
Pescas
Avenida Brasilia
1400 Lisboa

SALDAHNA LOPES, José
Directeur du Service
Ministerio da Agricultura,
Pescas e Alimentacao
Secretaria de Estado das
Pescas
Avenida Brasilia
1400 Lisboa

DE ALMEIDA RIBEIRO, Antonio Alternate Permanent Representative of Portugal to FAO Embassy of the Portuguese Republic Via Giacinta Pezzana 9 00197 Rome

QATAR

ROMANIA

RWANDA

SENEGAL

DIOH, Bernard Codou Directeur de l'Océanographie et des Pêches maritimes Dakar

GOMIS, Louis
Représentant permanent
adjoint du Sénégal
auprès de la FAO
Ambassade de la République
du Sénégal
Via Bartolomeo Eustachio 12
00161 Rome

SEYCHELLES

NAGEON DE LESTANG, Joel G.J. Director Resource SFA Ministry of National Development P.O. Box 449 Seychelles

SIERRA LEONE

SOMALIA

MUSSE FARAH, Abbas
Ambassador to FAO
Permanent Representation
of the Somali Democratic
Republic to FAO
Via Icilio 16, Int. 3
00153 Rome

SPAIN

CADENAS DELLANO, Carmen
Jefe, Organismos y
Conferencias
Ministero di Agricultura,
Pesca y Alimentación
Ortega y Gasset 57
Madrid

SOTO, Concepción Subdirectora General Rel. Pesqueras Ministerio di Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación Ortega y Gasset 57 Madrid

VARONA, Javier Presidente Ministerio di Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación Estebanez Calderon 5 Madrid

SRI LANKA

FERNANDO, Aloy Additional Secretary Ministry of Fisheries P.O. Box 1707 Maligawatta Colombo 10

DHARMASENA, T.
Counsellor, Alternative
Permanent Representative
of Sri Lanka to FAO
Embassy of the Democratic
Socialist Republic of
Sri Lanka
Via Giuseppe Cuboni 6-8
00197 Rome

SWEDEN

GUSTAVSSON, Tore Head of Division Board of Fisheries Fiskeristyrelsen Box 2565 Goteborg

BLOM, Kent
Deputy Head of Division
Swedish International
Development Authority
(SIDA)
Stockholm

SWITZERLAND

WIESMANN, Peter A.
Représentant permanent
adjoint de Suisse
auprès de la FAO
Ambassade du Suisse
Via Barnaba Oriani 61
00197 Rome

TANZANIA

MONGI, Harold
Senior Fisheries Officer
Ministry of Lands, Natural
Resources and Tourism
Fisheries Division
P.O. Box 2462
Dar-es-Salaam

THAILAND

SURASWADI, Plodprasop Deputy Director-General Department of Fisheries 221 Sukumuit 20 Bangkok

HIRANWAT, Sompong
Director
Fisheries Policy and
Planning Division
Department of Fisheries
Radjadumnern Avenue
Bangkok

ISARANKURA, Vanrob
Agricultural Counsellor
Permanent Representative of
Thailand to FAO
Royal Thai Embassy
Via Zara 9
00198 Rome

KORSIEPORN, Pinit
Alternate Permanent Representative of Thailand to FAO
Royal Thai Embassy
Via Zara 9
00198 Rome

TUNISIA

AKROUT, Hassen Commissaire Général à la Pêche Commissariat Général à la Pêche 32 Rue Alain Savary 1002 Tunis

HADJ ALI, Salem
Directeur, Institut national
scientifique et technique
d'océanographie et de pêche
Ministère Production Agricole
et Agro-Alimentaire
2025 Salammbô

ABDELHADI, Mohamed
Ministre Plénipotentiaire/
Représentant de la Tunisie
auprès de la FAO, Ambassade
de la République tunisienne
Via Asmara 7
00199 Rome

TURKEY

ISKIT, Teme1
Minister Plenipotentiary
Permanent Representative
of Turkey to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the Republic of Turkey
to FAO
Via Palestro 28
00185 Rome

OGUT, Hasim
Agricultural Counsellor
Alternate Permanent Representative of Turkey to FAO
Permanent Representation of the Republic of Turkey to FAO
Via Palestro 28
00185 Rome

MERT, Ismail
Director, Division of
Protection Services
General Directorate of
Protection and Control
Ministry of Agriculture,
Forestry and Rural Affairs
Akay Cad. No.3
Ankara

CANSIZ, Ahmet
Chief of Section
General Directorate of
Project and Implementation
Ministry of Agriculture,
Forestry and Rural Affairs
Milli Mudafa Cad. No. 20
Ankara

UGANDA

UNITED KINGDOM

STONEMAN, J.
Fisheries Adviser
Overseas Development
Administration
Eland House, Stag Place
London SW1 5DH

TARBIT, J.
Fisheries Adviser
Overseas Development
Administration
Eland House, Stag Place
London SWL 5DH

DEARE, Ronald
Permanent Representative of
the United Kingdom to FAO
British Embassy
Via XX Settembre 80/A
00187 Rome

KEELING, David
First Secretary, Foreign and
Commonwealth Office
London SW.1

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

EVANS, William E.
Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, NOAA, NMFS
Department of Commerce
1825 Connecticut Av. NW
Washington, D.C. 20235

WEYGANDT, Arkell D.
Acting Permanent Representative of the USA to FAO
Permanent Representation of the United States of America to FAO
Via Sardegna 49
00187 Rome

TUTTLE, Robin Foreign Affairs, NMFS 1825 Connecticut Ave NW Washington, D.C. 20235

SNEAD, Larry L. Director Office of Fisheries Affairs Department of State Washington, D.C. 20520

URUGUAY

NION GIRADO, Hebert C.
Director
División Biologica Pesquera
Instituto Nacional de Pesca
Ministerio Ganadería,
Agricultura y Pesca
Constituyente 1497
Montevideo

SOMMA RIBA, Gustavo
Representante Permanente
Alterno del Uruguay
ante la FAO
Embajada de la República
Oriental del Uruguay
Via V. Veneto 183, 59 piso
OO187 Roma

VENEZUELA

FERMIN GOMEZ, Mercedes Embajador ante la FAO Representación permanente de la República de Venezuela ante la FAO Via Antonio Gramsci 14/6 00197 Roma

CASSELLAS OLIVO, Maria Isabel Consejero Representación Permanente de la República de Venezuela ante la FAO Via Antonio Gramsci 14/6 00197 Roma

YEMEN ARAB REPUBLIC

AL AGHBARY, Aly
Minister Plenipotentiary
to FAO
Permanent Representation
of the Yemen Arab
Republic to FAO
Via Verona 3
00161 Rome

LOULOU, Hussein Chairman Fishery Development Board Ministry of Agriculture Sana'a

AL-ASHMORY, Aly
Assistant to Deputy
Minister of Agriculture
Ministry of Agriculture
Sana'a

YEMEN, (PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF)

YASLAM BAKHIDER, Ahmed Deputy Director Marine Science Research Institute Ministry of Fish Wealth Aden KHALED, Anwar Mohammed
Ambassador to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the People's Democratic
Republic of Yemen to FAO
Via Enrico Albanese 45, Int. 7
00149 Rome

YUGOSLAVIA

TAPAVICKI, Milutin
Minister Plenipotentiary
Permanent Representative of
Yugoslavia to FAO
Embassy of the Socialist
Federal Republic of
Yugoslavia
Via dei Monti Parioli 20
00197 Rome

ZAIRE

TAMBWE, Sango Ya
Représentant permanent adjoint
du Zaïre auprès de la FAO
Ambassade de la République
du Zaïre
Via Annone 73
00199 Rome

ZAMBIA

OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

AUSTRIA

KINZEL, Dietmar
Permanent Representative of
Austria to FAO
Permanent Representation of
the Republic of Austria
to FAO
Via di Affogalasino 41, Int.1
00148 Rome

BURMA

SAN MAUNG, U.
Ambassador/Permanent Representative of Burma to FAO
Embassy of the Socialist
Republic of the Union
of Burma
Via Vincenzo Bellini 20
00198 Rome

LESOTHO

KHADI, P.M.
Counsellor/Alternate Permanent
Representative of Lesotho
to FAO
Embassy of the Kingdom of
Lesotho
Via di Porta Pertusa 4
00165 Rome

LETEKA, Masuhla

First Secretary/Alternate
Permanent Representative
of Lesotho to FAO

Embassy of the Kingdom of
Lesotho

Via di Porta Pertusa 4

00165 Rome

SUDAN

AHMED, Gamal
Permanent Representative of
Sudan to FAO
Embassy of the Republic of
the Sudan
Viale di Porta Ardeatina 1
00154 Rome

OBSERVERS FROM NON-MEMBER STATES

UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS

ZILANOV, V.
Chief
Foreign Relations Department
Ministry of Fisheries
Rozhdestvensky Blvr. 12
Moscow

FOSKINE, L.
Foreign Relations Department
Ministry of Fisheries
Rozhdestvensky Blvr. 12
Moscow

SASKOV, V.
Senior Scientist
All-Union Research Institute
of Fisheries and
Oceanography (VNIRO)
Rozhdestvensky Blvr. 12
Moscow

EREMEEV, E. General Director SOVITPESCA Livorno Italy

PERMANENT OBSERVER TO FAO

HOLY SEE

FERRARI-TONIOLO, Mgr. Agostino
Permanent Observer of the
Holy See to FAO
S. Calisto Palace
Vatican City

BUONOMO, Vincenzo Adviser S. Calisto Palace Vatican City

REPRESENTATIVES OF UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOP-MENT PROGRAMME

REYNOLDS, Philip Senior Project Officer Division for Global and Inter-regional Projects UNDP One United Nations Plaza New York, N.Y. 10017 USA

GENERÁL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

FRANCO, Renzo
Counsellor, Agriculture
Division, GATT
Centre William Rappard
Rue de Lausanne 154
CH-1211 Geneva, Switzerland

INTERGOVERNMENTAL OCEANO-GRAPHIC COMMISSION

TROADEC, J.-P.
Directeur des ressources
vivantes, IFREMER
66 Avenue d'Iéna
75116 Paris, France

INTERNATIONAL FUND FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT

SHINDO, S.
Director
Loan Implementation Unit
Project Management Department
IFAD
Via del Serafico 107
00142 Rome, Italy

WORLD BANK

LOAYZA, Eduardo
Fisheries Development Adviser
Agriculture and Rural
Development Department
The World Bank
1818 H Street NW
Washington, D.C. 20433, USA

WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME

BEN SLIMANE, H.
Regional Manager
Mediterranean and Middle
East Bureau
WFP, Room F-727, Rome

COUTTS, D.C.
Programme Officer
Project Programming Unit
WFP, Room F-729
Rome

EUROPEAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY

VAMVAKAS, Konstantinos Administrateur Principal Direction Générale de la Pêche Commission des Communautés européennes 200 Rue de la Loi 1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

ARNAULT, Veronique Administrateur Direction Générale de la Pêche Commission des Communautés européennes 200 Rue de la Loi 1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

TOUGAARD, Ole
Administrateur Principal
Direction Générale de la Pêche
Commission des Communautés
européennes
200 Rue de la Loi
1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

THOMPSON, Andrew
Assistant, Direction Générale
des Relations extérieurs
Commission des Communautés
européennes
200 Rue de la Loi
Bruxelles, Belgique

McDERMOTT, George
Assistant Principal
Direction Générale du
Développement
Commission des Communautés
européennes
200 Rue de la Loi
1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

NAUEN, Cornelia
Administrateur
Direction Générale du
Développement
Commission des Communautés
européennes
200 Rue de la Loi
1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

MECKMANN, Anne
Administrateur Principal
DGB II - Pêche
Conseil des Ministres des
Communautés européennes
170 Rue de la Loi
1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

CARRETTA, Nicoletta
Secrétaire, DGB II - Pêche
Conseil des Ministres des
Communautés européennes
170 Rue de la Loi
1048 Bruxelles, Belgique

OBSERVERS FROM INTER-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

WATTEN, John Fisheries Officer Badinard B.P. V316 Abidjan, Côte-d'Ivoire

COMMISSION FOR THE CON-SERVATION OF ANTARCTIC MARINE LIVING RESOURCES

GARACHE, Serge
Chargé de Mission auprès du
Directeur des Pêches
maritimes et des cultures
marines
Secrétariat d'Etat à la Mer
3 Place Fontency
75700 Paris, France

COMMONWEALTH SECRETARIAT

MARSHALL, Sir Peter Commonwealth Deputy Secretary-General Marlborough House, Pall Mall London SW1Y 5HX, England

MUTHAMA, J.K.
Director, Food Production and
Rural Development Division
Marlborough House, Pall Mall
London SWIY 5HX, England

KING, Hannah
Fisheries Officer, Food
Production and Rural
Development Division
Marlborough House, Pall Mall
London SWIY 5HX

INTERNATIONAL BALTIC SEA FISHERY COMMISSION

BRUSKI, Zbigniew Secretary of the Commission ul. Hoja 20 Warsaw, Poland

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION FOR THE SOUTHEAST ATLANTIC FISHERIES

KALINOWSKI, W.
Conseiller du Ministre
Ministère de l'Economie
maritime
ul. Hoza 20
00-960 Warsaw, Poland

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL FOR THE EXPLORATION OF THE SEA

TROADEC, J.-P.
Directeur des Ressources
vivantes, IFREMER
66 Avenue d'Iéna
75116 Paris

ORGANIZATION FOR ECONOMIC COOPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

HOLMBERG, Lars Head, Fisheries Division OECD 2 rue André Pascal 75775 Paris

ORGANIZACION LATINOAMERICANA DE DESAROLLO PESQUERO (OLDEPESCA)

CARDENAS RONCO, Juan José Director Ejecutivo OLDEPESCA Av. Aviación 2555-A Lima, Peru

SOUTHEAST ASIAN FISHERIES DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

HONGSKUL, Veravat Secretary-General SEAFDEC 956 Olympia Bldg, 4th floor Rama IV Road Bangkok 10500 Thailand

OBSERVEES FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF WOMEN

ARULPRAGASAM, Lohini
Permanent Representative
to FAO
Via del Caucaso 49/15
00144 Rome

INTERNATIONAL COOPERATIVE ALLIANCE

VISANI, Lino
Permanent Representative
of the ICA
Via Guattani 9
00161 Roma

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF WOMEN

PASSERINI, Lena Permanent Representative to VAO Via Pollaiolo 2 00197 Rome ROSSINI VAN HISSENHOVEN, Lydie Accredited Representative to FAO Via Thailandia 26 00144 Rome

INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR THE CONSERVATION OF NATURE AND NATURAL RESOURCES

GULLAND, John Alan IUCN Avenue Mont Blanc CH-1196 Gland Switzerland

WORLD CONFEDERATION OF LABOUR

BARONE, Anna
Representazione Permanente
c/o ACLI
Via Marcora 20
Rome

WORLD FEDERATION OF TRADE UNIONS

CASADEI, Anna Laura Representante Permanente de la FSM auprès de la FAO Via C. Colombo 185 00147 Rome

OFFICERS OF THE COMMITTEE AT THE SEVENTEENTM SESSION

Chairman

Hassen Akrout (Tunisia)

First Vice-Chairman

Ryszard Pospieszynski (Poland)

Vice-Chairmen

Representatives from:

Belgium Canada Malaysia Senegal

DRAFTING COMMITTEE

Chile Equatorial Guinea India Indonesia Japan

Kenya Norway Spain U.S.A. P.D.R. Yemen

FAO FISHERIES DEPARTMENT

Assistant Director-General a.i. (Fisheries)

Armin Lindquist

Director, Fishery Industries Division

W. Krone

Director, Fishery Policy and Planning Division

B.F. Dada

Director, Fishery Resources and Environment Division A. Lindquist

Director of Operations

N. Kojima

SECRETARIAT

Secretary

Deb Menasveta

Assistant Secretary

J.J. Kambona

Secretary, Drafting Committee

M.J. Savini

Administrative Assistant (Meetings)

Janet C. Webb

APPENDIX C

List of Documents

| COFI/87/1 | Annotated provisional agenda and timetable | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| 2 | World fisheries situation and outlook | | | | |
| 3 | Progress in the implementation of the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development | | | | |
| 4 | Progress in the implementation of the Programmes of Action | | | | |
| 5 | Progress in the implementation of the Resolutions concerning specific aspects of fisheries management and development | | | | |
| 6 | Sub-Committee on Fish Trade: Report on First Session, Rome, 7-10 October 1986 | | | | |
| 7 | Marking and identification of fishing vessels | | | | |
| 8 | Protection of living resources from entanglement in fishing nets and debris | | | | |
| 8, Add. | Position paper (submitted by the UNEP Representative) | | | | |
| 9 | Review of FAO regional fishery bodies | | | | |
| 10 | The work of FAO in fisheries during 1988-89 | | | | |
| 11 11, Corr.1 | International standards for the removal of disused offshore structures | | | | |
| COFI/87/Inf.1 | List of documents | | | | |
| 2 | List of delegates and observers | | | | |
| 3 | Opening statement by the Director-General | | | | |
| 4 | Review of the state of world fishery resources | | | | |
| 5, Suppl. 5, Corr.1 5, Corr.2 | Fishery commodity situation and outlook 1985-86 | | | | |
| 6 | Aquaculture development | | | | |

| 7 | Activities of international organizations concerned with fisheries |
|----|---|
| 8 | Report of the Sixteenth Session of the Committee on Fisheries, Rome, 22-26 April 1985 |
| 9 | Report of the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development, Rome, 27 June-6 July 1984 |
| 10 | Report of the First Session of the COFI Sub-Committee on Fish Trade, Rome, 7-10 October 1986 |
| 11 | Report of the Expert Consultation on Fishing Vessel Markings, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada, 11-15 March 1985 |
| 12 | Report of the Expert Consultation on the Technical Specifications for the Marking of Fishing Vessels, Rome, 16-20 June 1986 |
| 13 | The work of FAO in fisheries during 1988-89 - Summary Programme of Work and Budget 1988-89, Major Programme 2.2: Fisheries (Extract from report of the Fifty-second Session of the Programme Committee) |

APPENDIX D

Opening Statement by the Director-General

Mr. Chairman, Distinguished Delegates and Observers, Ladies and Gentlemen:

Every Session of the Committee on Fisheries is an important occasion. I attach, however, particular weight to this present meeting.

In the first place, you will have the opportunity of reviewing detailed reports on the progress made so far with the implementation of the Strategy for Fisheries Management and Development and the Programmes of Action approved by the 1984 FAO World Fisheries Conference.

Secondly, the Committee will be invited to discuss my initial proposals for the work of the Organization in fisheries over the next biennium. In view of the financial constraints besetting the Organization, your comments on the selection of priorities and on further improving the efficiency of our programmes will be of special importance.

The present world fisheries situation

As a background and overall framework for your discussions, the Committee has been provided with an overview of the present state of the world's fisheries and of the prospects for the sector to the end of the present century. I would like to comment upon a number of issues which arise from this analysis.

It is encouraging to note the consistent growth which has been recorded in recent years in the total world catch of fish. There is every indication that the total production of fish may have approached 90 million tons in 1986, representing the ninth successive year of growth in terms of physical output.

We must, however, temper our optimism by observing that a great part of the recent increase in production has arisen from catches of shoaling pelagic species, which are well known for their fluctuations in abundance and are in large measure used for conversion to fishmeal rather than for direct human consumption. Nevertheless, supplies of food fish have continued to rise consistently.

The rapid expansion of international trade in fish and fishery products - and the increasingly large share of this trade being gained by developing countries - are other very positive and welcome trends.

At the same time, because of the many specialized markets and wide range of fish products and the great differences in endowments of fish resources from one country to another, the benefits arising from these gains have not been equally shared. Moreover, as demand continues to grow, a notable feature of the past decade has been the significant upward trend in fish prices in real terms.

Future prospects and issues

As we look to the future, the perspectives I outlined at the Committee's Fifteenth Session in 1983 remain valid. Under the pressures of increasing populations and rising incomes, the demand for food fish by the year 2000 is

likely to be some 20 million tons greater than at present. On the other hand, many traditionally accepted food fish species are reaching or have already exceeded their sustainable yields.

In fact, such generalized projections do not properly reflect the great complexity and diversity of the fisheries sector. The world fisheries scene is now characterized by strong demand for expensive products of preferred and often fully exploited species, while difficulties remain in marketing abundant, low price fish.

This situation raises important issues of policies and practices for all concerned with fisheries. To meet these challenges we must make simultaneous advances on a number of fronts.

A major priority must be to improve the overall economic performance of the fisheries sector by better management of the resources. Proper management is the essential basis for the sound and sustained development of the fisheries.

Moreover, whilst also seeking means of exploiting neglected species and bringing them economically to market, we must make more effective use of existing catches by an all-out attack on wastage and post-harvest losses.

We must continue to devote attention to the further development of aquaculture. There has perhaps been a tendency to over-exaggerated expectations from this sector, but there are undoubtedly prospects for a notable growth in its contribution to food fish supplies and in its role in overall rural development. What is now needed is improved institutional support for aquaculture, the better supply of inputs and the provision of the necessary extension services and training.

In fish trade, although tariffs no longer seem to be a major obstacle to its expansion and equity, continued efforts are needed to reduce other barriers and to promote quality standards.

Above all, the key to progress is the further promotion of the capabilities of developing countries to tackle these problems themselves. Greater self-reliance, through training and the transfer of technology, is clearly the major issue facing world fisheries.

To this end, sustained support is required on the part of donor agencies and development organizations for the systematic improvement of the technical, institutional and financial self-reliance of developing countries. Direct inter-country collaboration, in the spirit of ECDC and TCDC, has also much to contribute in this respect.

I would like to emphasize that we in FAO have made and will continue to make the fullest possible contribution, within the limits of our resources, through advice and assistance of many kinds and in many fields.

The follow-up to the 1984 World Fisheries Conference

Mr Chairman, I would now like to turn to the progress achieved in direct follow-up to the recommendations of the 1984 FAO World Fisheries Conference. The steps being taken or proposed to increase further the contribution of the fisheries sector to national, economic, social and nutritional goals are reviewed in the progress reports we have prepared for your Committee concerning the implementation of the Strategy and the five associated Programmes of Action approved by the Conference.

I would like to thank those governments and organizations which responded to our request for collaboration in preparing these reports. It is clear from the replies received that the guidelines and principles contained in the Strategy are proving to be of considerable relevance and value to many countries, both developing and developed. I am also pleased to be able to report that very positive, if uneven, progress has been made with the Programmes of Action, and I would like to thank once more those countries and organizations which are collaborating with FAO in their implementation, either with direct financial support or through other forms of cooperation.

Other important actions have been taken in follow-up to the World Fisheries Conference. The new COFI Sub-Committee on Fish Trade made an encouraging start to its work last October. You will have an opportunity to review its report during this Session and also to consider the results of the work you requested on the marking and identification of fishing vessels.

In response to the call made by the World Fisheries Conference for greater support for artisanal fisheries, World Food Day in 1986 focused upon this vital sector. These celebrations undoubtedly produced a heightened awareness of the substantial contribution made by fishermen and fishing communities to food production and social development.

The needs and aspirations of small-scale fisheries demand our continued attention. Whilst their economic and social progress depends in part on general development, special programmes are required to promote and protect these often isolated and unprivileged communities.

I have already referred to the importance which should be attached to international collaboration in fisheries. Such cooperation takes place in an ever-changing environment and the mechanisms already established to promote such collaboration merit frequent review. Your consideration, under item 9 of your agenda, of the activities of FAO's regional fishery bodies and of possible means of strengthening and rationalizing these bodies is therefore particularly timely.

In this regard, I would offer a suggestion concerning participation at the sessions of these bodies and, above all, at the meetings of their technical committees and working parties. The success of these bodies rests, of course, on the advice and knowledge of well-experienced and mature representatives but, I would suggest, they should also provide an excellent opportunity for the younger manager and specialist to grow professionally, to contribute with their energies and enthusiasm and to benefit from working with others in areas of mutual interest.

The work of FAO in fisheries in 1988/89

Mr Chairman, my proposals for the work of the Organization in fisheries in 1988/89 are set out in document COFI/87/10. You are all aware of the cash-flow problems that have assailed the Organization for more than a year. I have taken steps to minimize their impact on our priority programmes but these problems have made the drawing up of proposals for the Programme of Work and Budget for the new biennium an unusually difficult task.

I am determined that the technical work of the Organization shall not suffer unduly and have therefore felt able to propose, notwithstanding the overall constraints, a modest increase in the resources to be allocated to the Fisheries Department. Under these circumstances, the advice and suggestions of the Committee on our priorities and objectives in this field will assume

even greater value than normal. While the heart of the Department's work lies, of course, in its direct support of the fisheries sector, I would also wish to emphasize the importance I attach to its contribution toward broader initiatives of the Organization, in particular world food security, the Programme of Action for Africa, and the study of Latin American development perspectives.

The late Jean Carroz

Before I close these remarks, I would like to pay tribute to the memory of the late Jean Carroz who so efficiently served this Committee and the Organization as a whole for many years before his untimely death in harness some six months after your last session. He was a man of great dedication, profound responsibility and highest professional standards. His contribution to FAO and to world fisheries will long be remembered.

Concluding remarks

Mr Chairman, for many years now we have all been greatly occupied with the coming and consolidation of the revised legal regime of the oceans. Now, the creation of exclusive economic zones are part of history. It is ten years or more since many countries extended their national jurisdictions over the resources off their shores. It is five years since the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea was adopted.

We must now concern ourselves with the practical realities of the current situation. We must devote our attention and energies not so much to reviewing past progress, but rather to dealing with the issues and needs of the present and the challenges before us.

Mr Chairman, it remains only for me to wish you and your Committee a most successful and productive Session.